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A property fund created under the 

Emira Property Scheme, registered 

in terms of the Collective 

Investment Schemes Control Act

Share code: EMI  

ISIN: ZAE000050712  

(“Emira”)

Corporate structure

Emira Property Fund (“the Fund”) is a property unit 

trust in terms of the Collective Investment Schemes 

Control Act, No. 45 of 2002. The Fund is managed by 

Strategic Real Estate Managers (Pty) Limited 

(“STREM”), which is approved by the Registrar of 

Collective Investment Schemes to manage the Fund.

In terms of the Collective Investment Schemes 

Control Act, No. 45 of 2002 (“CISC Act”) the Fund is 

obliged to distribute all income earned to its 

participatory interest holders. As a result of its 

distribution obligations, no income tax or capital 

gains tax is payable by the Fund.

Investment strategy, objectives 
and prospects

The Fund’s  principal objective is to grow earnings from a 

quality based property portfolio. Growth will be sought by 

making strategic investments where yields are growing in the 

medium to long term.  Management will continuously maintain 

the quality of the portfolio by disposals of assets, which no 

longer meet the strategic objectives of the Fund. 

The strategic objectives of the Fund are to:

•  Optimise net income and growth in distributions;

•  Apply gearing to the portfolio to the extent that it enhances 

returns, limited to 30% of total assets as provided for in the 

Collective Investment Schemes Control Act;

•  Increase market capitalisation, liquidity and spread of 

investors through selective acquisitions and capital raising;

•  Selectively recycle assets;

•  Broaden the Fund’s geographic exposure to KwaZulu-Natal, 

the Western and Eastern Cape;

•  Maintain a balanced exposure to the retail, offi ce and 

industrial property sectors;

•  Dispose of non-performing or potentially under-performing 

properties; and

•  Reduce vacancies and manage the lease expiry profi le of the 

portfolio.

With the above strategy in mind, and to the extent possible, 

Emira also aims to meet the requirements and deadlines of 

the Property Sector Transformation Charter.
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Key figures

Distributions per 
PI 74,5 cents 

annualised growth 
of 10,3%

Net asset value per 
PI 866 cents – an 
increase of 38,8%

12-month
total return
of 28,4%

Executive summary, for the year ended 30 June 2006 

Results 
for the year ended

30 June 2006

Restated results 
for the year ended 

30 June 2005
%

change

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Distributions per participatory interest (cents) 74,50 67,55 10,3

Headline earnings per participatory interest (cents) 85,67 77,17 11,0

Average vacancy factor (%) 4,0 6,0 (33,3)

Portfolio valuation analysis

Market value (R’000) 3 092 259 2 259 774 36,8

Net asset value per participatory interest (cents) 866 624 38,8

Listed market price (cents per unit) 850 720 18,1

(Discount)/Premium to net asset value (%) (2) 15,4 –

Capital and funding resources (R’000)

Debt funding facility available (R’000) 168 000 220 400 (66,1)

SALIENT FEATURES

Participatory interests in issue 286 828 772 286 828 772 –

Market capitalisation (R’000) 2  438 044 2 065 167 18,1

Long-term borrowings (R’000) 458 330 364 141 25,9

Long-term borrowings to total assets (%) 14,8 15,8 (1)

Property acquisitions and developments (R’000) 166 656 104 693 59,2

Number of properties 85 84 1 
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•  By leveraging our creativity and peerless development, leasing and management expertise,      
we maximise the value of all our assets.

•  Our track record speaks to the strength of our vision, the power of our strategy and the talent  
of our people.

Building on our core portfolio
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Vacancies dropped sharply 
down from 6,0% in June 

2005 to 4,0% in June 2006.

The new investments will 
contribute to enhancing the 
quality and performance of 
the Fund in the Future and 

will also further diversify the 
geographical spread of the 

portfolio.

Properties that are 
underperforming or pose 

excessive risk to the 
Fund are earmarked and 

disposed of.

Top left: Morgan Creek, Pinetown – warehousing. 

Left: Strathmore Park, Durban –  commercial offi ce block.

Momentum House, Durban – commercial offi ce block.Rand Ridge Mall, Randpark Ridge – community 
shopping centre.

Epsom Downs Shopping Centre, Epsom Downs – community 
shopping centre.

WorldWear Fashion Mall, Fairland –  a new, introverted, double sided open mall, 
housing some of the biggest fashion 
houses, both nationally and internationally.
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• We have a prolifi c development pipeline and a consistent leasing record.

• We maximise the value of our existing assets through expert management.

•  We consistently expand our portfolio and our presence through targeted acquisitions.

Building on our core portfolio
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Despite recent volatility in 
listed property prices, the 

sector remains an attractive 
asset class to investors.

Emira recently concluded a 
BEE transaction which is the 
fi rst step towards achieving 
the Property Transformation 

Charter’s targets.

The Fund has no signifi cant 
concentration of credit risk 
due to a large number of 

widespread tenants.

Top Left: 100 Armstrong, La Lucia Ridge – commercial offi ce park.

Left: Bradenham Hall, Rivonia – commercial offi ce park.

Epsom Downs Offi ce Park, Epsom Downs – offi ce 
park being refurbished.

New Zealand Milk, Midrand – warehouse.

The Worlds B, Umgeni Business Park – industrial midi units.



6

Em
ira

 P
ro

pe
rt

y 
Fu

nd
 A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t 

20
06

Portfolio summary, for the year ended 30 June 2006

The directors of STREM are pleased to present their 

report on Emira’s performance for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2006.

Overview of performance 
1. Summary of the Fund’s performance

Buoyant market conditions resulted in Emira experiencing 

an extremely successful year to 30 June 2006. It was a 

year in which growth was a feature of both Emira’s 

performance as well as the entire listed property sector: 

participatory interest (PI) holders benefited from a growing 

PI price, distribution growth in excess of 10% was delivered 

by the Fund, and, subsequent to year-end, PI holders also 

approved the purchase of a portfolio of assets from 

Momentum Group Limited and RMB Properties (Pty) Ltd 

for R844 million.  

•  Distributions per PI for the year amounted to  

74,5 cents, representing growth of 10,3% year-on-year. 

This was in line with the rest of the listed property 

sector and driven by strong income growth from the 

existing portfolio, as well as the impact of property 

purchases;

•  Emira’s PI price rose from 720 cents at 30 June 2005 to 

850 cents at 30 June 2006, a rise of 18,1%, and the 

Fund’s market capitalisation rose from R2,07 billion to 

R2,44 billion over the same period.  Emira’s PI price 

reached a high of 1 120 cents in February 2006, before 

the market volatility associated with the higher global 

and local interest rates impacted the listed property 

sector. Together with the distributions of 74,50 cents, 

PI holders received a total return of 28,4% over the past 

twelve months;

•  Net asset value grew by 38,8% from 624 cents to 866 

cents. This is indicative of the current underlying strength 

in the commercial property market, where vacancies have 

been declining, rentals rising and costs kept under control. 

Despite the interest rate hikes in recent months, discount 

rates have also been reduced in the past year, with long 

term government bond yields currently under 9% p.a.

•  The transfer into Emira of four properties (excluding 

Gift Acres, which was income producing during the 

previous financial year) totalling R106,5 million 

increased Emira’s portfolio during the period. In August 

2005, 100 Armstrong was transferred to Emira into 

Emira, while, after lengthy delays in the process, 

Lincolnwood Office Park and 122 Pybus Road were 

eventually transferred from Unilever to Emira in 

October last year. A small office building, Centurygate, 

located at Century City in Cape Town, was transferred 

in November 2005; 

•  Three buildings were sold during the period, while a 

further one is awaiting transfer. Motorola, a mixed office/

industrial building in Halfway Gardens, Grinaker Electronics, 

an office building located in Samrand and Pilrig Place, an 

office building situated in Parktown, were all transferred 

out of the Fund, realising significant premiums to NAV. 

Delays in the conclusion of the relevant documentation 

resulted in Mafikeng Game not being transferred out of 

the Fund during the period. This is expected to take place 

before the end of December 2006;

Manager’s report
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•  Vacancies declined from 6,0% in June 2005 to 4,0% in 

June 2006. The bulk of the decline came in the office 

portfolio (6 105m2), followed by the industrial portfolio 

(5 072m2). The six months to June 2006, saw the office 

portfolio benefit from improved demand for space, 

eventually benefiting from the improvement in economic 

conditions that had, until recently, only been seen in the 

industrial and retail sectors; 

•  On 22 August 2006, Emira PI holders approved the 

acquisition of five properties from Momentum and RMB 

Properties worth R844 million. The introduction of a 

14,2% BEE shareholding in the Fund was also approved 

at the same meeting. Management is confident that the 

properties in question will enhance the sustainability of 

Emira’s income into the future. Moreover, we welcome 

our broad range of new black shareholders, who are 

expected to play an important part in the development 

and growth of the Fund.

2. OVERVIEW OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN 

PROPERTY MARKET

2.1 Listed property sector

 2.1.1 Total returns to June 2006

 The twelve months to June 2006 saw the South African 

listed property sector setting record highs in March and 

April, followed by sharp declines in May and June as 

investors reacted to the surprise 50 basis point prime 

interest rate hike at the beginning of June 2006.

 In the nine months to 31 March 2006, the Property Unit 

Trust (PUT) index appreciated by 40,4% to a record high 

level of 396. This implied a total return of 45,8% for the 

nine-month period. 

 The subsequent correction in the market saw the PUT 

index decline by 23,8% in the three months to the end of 

June. The net result was that in the twelve months to  

June 2006 PUTs and Property Loan Stocks (PLSs) delivered 

pre-tax total returns of 14,0% and 29,8% respectively. This 

lagged the All Share index and the FINDI 30, which 

delivered 52,4% and 34,1% for the same period. Long 

bonds (using the R157 as a proxy) lagged considerably, 

showing a total return of only 2,3%. 

 Total returns to 30 June 2006 (pre-tax) 

Period
All

Share
FINDI

30 PLSs PUTs R 157

3 months 4,9% (4,2%) (16,9%) (22,1%) (5,0%)

6 months 18,5% 7,3% 1,3% (6,3%) (3,9%)

12 months 52,4% 34,1% 29,8% 14,0% 2,3%

Source: Inet-Bridge

Despite the recent volatility in listed property prices, the 

sector remains an attractive asset class to investors as a 

result of its healthy total returns over a ten-year period, as 

well as its growing income yield. This characteristic makes 

listed property an ideal tool for investors wanting to 

diversify their investment portfolios.
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

2.1.2  The listed property and bond yield differential

As mentioned above, the South African listed property 

sector suffered alongside general equity markets during 

the second quarter of 2006. Emerging markets, in particular, 

experienced fi nancial market weakness and high volatility 

as the global economies adjusted to the prospect of higher 

interest rates worldwide. As infl ation expectations rose, 

risk aversion increased and, as a result, both domestic and 

international investors moved to safer assets.

The net result was that local bond yields moved up from 

lows of between 7% and 7,5% between January and May 

to 8,6% by the end of June, as can be seen in the table 

above. 

Yield differential (Listed property less R157 yield) and 

R157
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Source: Inet-Bridge

The uncertainty in the markets and rising local bond yields 

hit the listed property sector harder than most other asset 

classes. The net result of this was that the differential 

between the historic listed property yield and the 

R157 bond yield narrowed from (1,4%) in March to (0,9%) 

by the end of June.  

The market’s recognition of the healthy fundamentals for 

the listed property sector saw this differential widen to in 

the region of (1,5%) by September 2006.  

2.1.3 Listed property fund results

As stated earlier, growth has been a feature of the listed 

property sector in the past year and for the second year in 

a row growth in distributions from the listed property 

sector has surprised on the upside. Our estimates show 

that weighted average distribution growth for both PUTs 

and PLSs has been approximately10,5% over the past 

twelve months. This has been driven by declining vacancies, 

the healthy performance of the retail focused funds, as 

well as reduced debt costs.

2.1.4 Summary of listed property sector

Although the recent market volatility has taken the shine 

off the sector from a total returns point of view, there are 

a number of reasons for investors to remain positive about 

the sector. A number of them are symptomatic of the bull 

market that has benefi ted the sector in recent years, 

however, there is no doubt that the South African listed 

property sector has matured in recent years, although it is 

still in its infancy by international standards:

•  Growth in distributions from the sector has not been as 

healthy in many years and, given the fundamentals, this 

above-average growth is expected to continue for the 

medium term;

•  Net asset values have been rising by between 20% and 

30% per annum, refl ective of the underlying strength in 

the physical market; 

•  Certain new players have entered the listed property 

sector, either through new listings or existing funds, 

indicating the positive state of health of the sector;

•  As a result of these new entrants, the market 

capitalisation of South African listed property stocks has 

grown to close to R50 billion from R7 billion ten years 

ago;

•  The number of listed PUTs and PLSs has grown to in 

excess of 30 counters. This is likely to open up additional 

opportunities for consolidation within the sector;
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•  Assuming the economic environment remains stable, 

we believe that the sector should be able to show 

returns in line with the long-term historic performance 

for the foreseeable future.

2.2 Physical property market

Physical property is considerably less volatile than the 

listed property sector. As a result, the fluctuations that 

have been evident in the listed sector recently have not 

been reflected in the physical market. In fact, the physical 

market remains stronger than ever, although there are 

some signs that the retail sector, which has been leading 

the cycle in recent years, could be experiencing a softening 

in growth as a result of the higher local interest rates. 

The Investment Property Databank (IPD) reported that, of 

all the countries surveyed by the IPD (in local currencies), 

the South African property market was the best performing 

market in 2005. This was the third consecutive year that 

South Africa has been the top performer. Total  returns 

amounted to 30,1%, consisting of 10,3% income yield and 

18,1% capital gain.

 IPD total returns in local currencies (%)

 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

South Africa  10,5  9,6 15,3  23,4  30,1 

Average of other 
participating 
countries 

9,1  7,4  7,4 9,3 13,5 

Source: IPD Index

Although offices performed well with total returns of 

24,5%, the industrial and retail sectors were the star 

performers in 2005, with total returns of approximately 

33%. Over the eleven years that IPD has been providing 

such statistics in South Africa, retail remains the best 

performer, followed by industrial, with offices lagging. 

Total returns % annualised over:

 Retail Office Industrial
All

 Property

1 year 33,0 24,5 33,1 30,1

3 years  25,3  16,5  24,9  22,8 

5 years  19,8  12,4  17,9  17,5 

11 years  17,5 11,1  13,9  14,8 

Source: IPD Index

Although the sectors are expected to deliver above-

average growth in the coming year, it is not expected that 

the All Property performance of +30% will be repeated in 

2006. 

2.3 Rentals and Vacancies

 2.3.1 Rentals 

 2.3.1.1 Office market

According to the IPD, total returns from the office sector 

in 2005 continued their upward trend, thanks to a 

fractional increase in the income yield (10,7% to 10,9%) 

and the strongest capital growth on record since 1995 of 

12,4%. This combined to show a total return of 24,5% for 

the year. 

The reason for the improved performance is the income 

growth that has been experienced of late. IPD shows that 

income growth amounted to 8,5% in 2005, from 0,3% in 

2004. This is well above the average since 1995 of 5,2% 

per annum and the first year since 1999 in which there has 

been real growth in rentals.
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

The outlook for real income growth and therefore total 

returns in the coming year remains positive. Reduced 

vacancies (refer below), rising building costs and a buoyant 

outlook for GDP growth all bode well for the office market. 

 2.3.1.2 Retail market

The retail sector has delivered an annual total return of 

17,5% since 1995, which is well ahead of the office and 

industrial sectors. With the retail category, regional 

shopping centres (19,8%) and super-regional shopping 

centres (18,8%) have been the outperformers. 

In general, the retail sector continues to be buoyed by high 

growth in consumer spending and retail sales. In the past 

ten years, real growth in consumer spending has averaged 

4,0%, which is ahead of national GDP growth. As a result, 

retail sector income growth has outstripped all other sub-

sectors, growing by an average of 9,7% – the only sector 

to have shown real growth over this period. 
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Source: IPD

It is expected that the recent hikes in prime interest rates 

will dampen growth in consumer spending to some extent, 

however, the longer-term trend of retail assets 

outperforming office and industrial is expected to 

continue.

 2.3.1.3 Industrial market

The industrial market has lagged the improvement in the 

retail sector, but has been ahead of the office market. 

Vacancies in the industrial components of listed portfolios 

started declining sharply in the second half of calendar year 

2004 and have remained at low single digits since then. 

This is reflected in the net income growth over the past 

three years, which has averaged 5,7%, although in quality 

areas market evidence would suggest that growth has 

been between 10% and 20%. 
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 2.3.2 SAPOA office vacancies and development

SAPOA office vacancies continued to show a declining trend 

over the past year, dropping from 11,4% in June 2005 to 

8,0% in June 2006. This equates to 445 936m2 of space. 
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The nodes to have contributed to this decline in vacancies 

include:

•  The Johannesburg CBD, which saw a reduction in 

vacancies of 116 430m2 (a decline of 27,8%);

•  Sandton, where vacancies declined by 52 711m2  

(35,9%);

•  Sunninghill, which saw a reduction in vacancies of 

22 189m2 (77,7%); and

•  CBD of Durban, where vacancies declined by 19 495m2 

(14,5%).

On the back of the improved rentals and declining 

vacancies mentioned above, the level of office development 

has started picking up once more. SAPOA’s June 2006 

statistics showed that the square meterage of new 

commercial developments increased by 52% to 348 000m2 

in the previous 12 months. It is important to note that by 

far the majority of this space currently under development 

is not speculative in nature, but rather being developed for 

tenant specific requirements. 

3. EMIRA’S PERFORMANCE AND PROPERTY 

PORTFOLIO 

3.1 Emira’s price performance and tradeability

In the 12 months to 30 June 2006 Emira’s price rose from 

720 cents to 850 cents, or 18,1%. This compares to the 

PUT index’s rise of only 7,0% over the same period, 

implying an outperformance of the sector of 11,1%. If the 

dividend of 74,5 cents is added to the capital appreciation, 

total returns during the period for Emira PI holders 

amounted to 28,4%.

Liquidity has also been healthy, with 145,8 million PI’s 

trading during the period. This equates to 50,8% of the PI’s 

in issue. 

3.2 Performance relative to the IPD index

The IPD index provides a comparative performance of 

listed and unlisted portfolios for each calendar year. Unlike 

the total returns mentioned above, which take into 

account share price appreciation or depreciation, the total 

returns provided by the IPD take into account capital 

growth in the value of the physical property portfolio 

added to the net income yield from the properties. 

In calendar year 2005, the Emira portfolio delivered a total 

return 39,9% versus the IPD listed property benchmark of 

33,8% and the entire IPD universe of 28,8%. The total 

return comprised an income return of 12,1% (benchmark 

11%) and capital growth of 25,1% (benchmark 20,8%).

Although Emira’s performance relative to the listed fund 

benchmark suffered as a result of the lack of a super-

regional or regional shopping centre within the portfolio, 

this was more than made up for by the exceptional capital 

appreciation within the portfolio.  The income return also 

outperformed the benchmark in 2005, as it did in 2004.

3.3 Sectoral exposure

The Emira property portfolio comprises good quality 

properties, selected for their ability to deliver sustainable 

growth in income and diversify risk. At 30 June 2006, the 

portfolio was made up of 85 properties, with an average 

value of R37 million. 

By value, 51% of the portfolio comprises of office space, 

mainly located in Gauteng. A further 34% is retail 

properties and the remaining 15% is industrial space. 

Following the purchase of the portfolio of properties from 

Momentum and RMB Properties, the nature of the portfolio 

is set to change. 

As can be seen in the tables below, the retail exposure by 

value within the fund is set to rise from 34% to 40%. This 

is in line with Emira’s strategy since listing of growing its 

retail exposure. As a result of the increase in retail assets 

the relative overweight position in office properties is 

reduced, with the weighting in office reducing from 51% to 

43%. Industrial exposure is set to rise from 15% to 17%. 



12

Em
ira

 P
ro

pe
rt

y 
Fu

nd
 A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t 

20
06

Portfolio statistics post the acquisition of property the portfolio

Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued
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The IPD portfolio has typically been used as a benchmark 

to determine a suitable market weighting for commercial 

property in South Africa. With the substantial 

outperformance of retail assets in recent years and the 

resultant investment by investors in this sector, the 

proportion of retail assets in the benchmark portfolio has 

increased significantly. 

If leisure and other assets are excluded from the benchmark 

(Emira does not invest in these assets), the IPD benchmark 

portfolio shows that retail assets account for 61% of the 

portfolio, followed by offices at 27% and industrial at 

11%. This would imply that Emira is substantially 

underweight in retail assets. 

Although we believe that there is scope for selectively 

increasing the Fund’s exposure to the retail sector, we do 

not believe that such a high weighting in retail properties 

would represent a balanced portfolio. For this reason, it is 

likely that the Fund will increase its exposure to retail 

assets to a level such that it approximately equates to the 

Fund’s exposure to office space.

A more detailed breakdown of the portfolio by value and 

income can be found later in this report.

 3.3.1 Offices

At June 2006 the forty-one office properties in the Fund 

comprised 51% of the Fund’s investment properties by 

value (R1,57 billion). The average value of the office 

portfolio equals to R36,6 million.
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Four acquisitions were made in the financial year, namely 

100 Armstrong (La Lucia, KwaZulu-Natal), Century Gate 

(Century City, Cape Town), 122 Pybus Road and 

Lincolnwood Office Park (Sandton).  

The office-component is divided into the following grades 

of property, predominantly comprising B-grade office 

space.

Office grading

Property value

R’000

% of 

total office

A – Grade 546 880 34,8%

B – Grade 1 025 549 65,2%

1 572 429 100,0%

Following the acquisition of two additional office properties 

from Momentum Group Limited and RMB Properties (Pty) 

Ltd – Wesbank House and Newlands Terraces respectively 

– the number of commercial properties will rise to forty-

three, although, as a percentage of the portfolio by value, 

offices will drop to 43%.

3.3.2  Retail

Emira’s exposure to the retail sector by value as at the end 

of the financial period stood at 34%. The retail portfolio 

was valued at R1,050 billion and comprised fourteen 

properties, implying an average value of the Fund’s retail 

properties of R75 million.
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

At a meeting on 22 August 2006, PI holders approved the 

purchase of Wonderpark Shopping Centre, a regional 

shopping centre north-west of Pretoria, and WorldWear 

Fashion Mall, a new concept retail development located on 

Beyers Naude Drive, Fairlands. Once these properties are 

transferred, the Fund’s retail exposure by value will 

increase to 40%, or R1,5 billion. With the acquisitions, the 

average value of retail assets in the fund will rise to 

R99 million.

The chart below indicates that the Fund’s top ten retail 

tenants comprise 53,8% of the total retail GLA, with the 

largest tenant being Pick ’n Pay at 24,4%. Assuming the 

new properties are transferred, this rises to 54,8%. National 

tenants within the entire retail portfolio subsequent to the 

acquisitions comprise in excess of 65% of retail GLA. 
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3.3.3 Industrial

The industrial component is the smallest within the fund, 

totalling thirty properties, equating to 15% of the total 

portfolio value (R469 million), with an average value per 

property of approximately R15 million.  

Following the purchase of the RTT distribution facility, this 

will rise to 17% and the average value to R21 million.

3.4 Vacancies and letting

During the period vacancies dropped sharply down from 

6.0% (33 624m2) in June 2005 to 4,0% in June 2006 

(23 262m2).  
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The largest improvement came within the industrial 

sector, which saw vacancies decline from 4,7% in June 

2005 to 1,8% by end June 2006. Office vacancies declined 

from 9,2% to 6,7%. Vacancies in the retail sector rose 

slightly from 1,5% to 2,0%. 
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3.4.1 Offices

Major vacancies at year-end were:

•   Woodmead Office Park – 3 719m2

•  Epsom Downs Office Park – 3 623m2

•  Braamfontein Centre – 1 920m2

Epsom Downs Office Park underwent a major refurbishment 

during the financial year in which the fund spent in excess 

of R9 million. Letting has been taking place at rentals in 

excess of budget and management are currently negotiating 

new lease agreements on the bulk of the vacant space.  



15

Emira is currently investigating alternatives to renovate 

the foyers and toilets at Woodmead Office Park during the 

next financial year.

Subsequent to year-end, vacancies at Woodmead and 

Epsom Downs have declined to 2 785m2 and 2 637m2 

respectively. 

3.4.2 Retail

Retail vacancies increased year-on-year, representing an 

increase of 816m2. Major vacancies at year-end were:

•  Lynnridge Mall – 820m2

•  Cresta Corner – 682m2

•  Gift Acres – 595m2

3.4.3 Industrial

Industrial vacancies declined from 4,7% to 1,8% over the 

past year, representing a decline in vacancies of 5 072m2. 

Major vacancies at year-end were:

•  Cambridge Park – 980m2

•  Admiral House – 870m2

•  One Highveld – 564m2

3.5 Lease expiry profile

As can be seen in the table below, approximately 71% of 

the Fund’s leases expire in the next three years. This is 

representative of the fact that leases in the office and 

industrial portfolios are typically between three and five 

years. The breakdown of this lease expiry is as follows: 

 After  FY07 FY08  FY09 FY10 FY11  FY12  

Industrial 10,7% 5,1% 4,9% 2,9% 3,0% 2,8%

Office 16,2% 11,1% 7,1% 1,4% 3,1% 1,7%

Retail 5,3% 3,0% 8,1% 3,3% 1,7% 4,7%

TOTAL 32,2% 19,2% 20,1% 7,6% 7,8% 9,2%

3.6 Acquisitions 

Properties worth approximately R185 million were either 

transferred or were in the process of being transferred 

during the financial year, funded through existing cash 

resources and debt facilities. The new investments will 

contribute to enhancing the quality and performance of 

the Fund and will also further diversify the geographical 

spread of the portfolio. 

The details of the transferred properties are:

Transferred to
Emira in FY06 Sector

 
Location

 GLA 
(m2)

Purchase
price 
(Rm)

Forward
yield 

(%)
Effective

date
Key

tenant

100 Armstrong Office La Lucia Ridge 2 896 25,00 11,1 11 Jul 05
Imperial Bank 

SAP Africa (Pty) Limited 
RMB Asset Management.

122 Pybus Road Office Sandton CBD 5 299 15,75 11,1 20 Oct 05 Multi-tenanted 

Lincolnwood 
Office Park

Office Woodmead 10 991 55,75 12,2 20 Oct 05
SA Rail 

Commuter Corporation

Century Gate Office Century City 1 369 10,00 10,0 25 Nov 05
Triocon Consulting 

Engineers (Pty) Limited 
Firstrand Bank Limited 

Gift Acres* Retail Lynnwood Ridge 9 363 78,68 11,8 22 Jun 06
Woolworths

Mr Price Group
First National Bank

 Total 29 918 185,2#

*  Note that although the transfer of Gift Acres only took place in June 2006, the development consideration was paid in accordance with the 

agreement with RMB Properties and income from the centre was accrued to the Fund since opening in May 2005.

#  Includes payments related to the previous year.
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

Emira also reached agreement with RMB Properties to purchase the newly developed Phase II of an office park located in Sprite 

Avenue, Faerie Glen, Pretoria. 

This was funded by short-term debt, with the income accruing to Emira from 1 June 2006. With the Fund being the legal owner 

of the land, no transfer was required. 

Income accruing to 
Emira in FY06  Sector  Location

GLA 
(m2)

 Purchase
 price

 (Rm)

 Forward
  yield

 (%)
 Effective
 date

 Key 
tenants

Faerie Glen Phase II  Office  Faerie Glen 1 937 18,9  10,2  1 June 2006
 Sanlam Life
 Simeka

As detailed elsewhere in this report, Emira received approval to purchase five properties from Momentum and RMB Properties 

at a PI holders’ meeting on 22 August 2006 through a combination of debt and equity. Of these five buildings, Newlands 

Terraces became income producing for Emira on 1 September 2006, with the remaining properties either waiting for transfer 

(in the case of Wonderpark and Wesbank House) or for practical completion (in the case of WorldWear and RTT). 

Yet to be 
transferred  
to Emira  Sector  Location

GLA 
(m2)

Purchase 
price 
(Rm)

Forward 
yield 

(%)
Effective 

date
 Key 

tenants

Newlands Terraces  Office
 Newlands, 
 Cape Town

4 262 43,8 9,9 1 Sep 06  UCS Software

Wonderpark 
Shopping Centre

 Retail
 Karenpark, 
 Pretoria

58 109 406,4 9,0 –  Pick ’n Pay

RTT Warehouse  Industrial
 Bartlett, 
 Johannesburg

44 085 217,1 9,7 –
 Railit Total 
 Transportation

WorldWear  Retail
 Fairlands, 
 Johannesburg

13 284 133,1 10,3 –  Mr Price Home

Wesbank House  Office
 CBD, Cape 
 Town

9 206 44,0 10,9 –
 Dept of Labour 
 WesBank

Total 128 946 844,4 9,5

Furthermore, Phase III of Faerie Glen, which is currently under development, is on target to be completed by 1 December 

2006 and is expected to be funded by debt. 

Income yet to 
accrue to Emira  Sector  Location GLA (m2)

Purchase 
price (Rm)

Forward 
yield (%)

Effective 
date

 Key 
tenants

Faerie Glen Phase III  Office  Faerie Glen 2 594 26,7 10,2 1 Dec 2006
 VIP Personnel & 
 Payroll Systems

3.7 Disposals 

In accordance with the strategy of the Fund, certain properties that are underperforming or pose excessive risk to the Fund are 

earmarked and disposed of. In addition, should an offer be received reflecting a value substantially in excess of the book value 

and management believes that this money can be reinvested at a more attractive yield, the Fund will consider disposing of an 

asset.
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  With this strategy in mind, Emira disposed of: Motorola, a mixed office/industrial building in Halfway Gardens; Pilrig, an 

office building in Parktown, and Grinaker Electronics, an office building in Samrand. 

Transferred out 
of Emira in FY06 Sector Location

GLA 
(m2)

Valuation  
Jun 2005 

(R’000)

Sale 
price

 (R’000)
Yield 

(%)
Effective 

date

Motorola Office
Halfway
 Gardens

719 3 001 3 001 11,1 11 Aug 05

Pilrig Office Parktown 2 027 5 990 7 400 8,5 28 Mar 06

Grinaker Electronics Office Samrand 3 261 7 000 7 000 1,6 01 Jun 06

Total 6 007 15 991 17 401  

The agreement for the disposal of Mafikeng Game, which does not meet the Fund’s investment criteria, has also been signed 

and the Fund is waiting for the fulfilment of certain suspensive conditions. This property is expected to be transferred out of 

Emira before the end of 2006. 

Awaiting transfer  
out of Emira Sector Location

GLA 
(m2)

Valuation at 
Jun 2005 

(Rm)

Sale 
price 
(Rm)

Yield 
(%)

Mafikeng Game Retail Mafikeng 5 218 20,1 20,7 15,9

3.8 Valuations

The Fund elected to have independent valuations of its entire portfolio at least every three years. To achieve this, independent 

valuers value approximately one-third of the portfolio each year. These valuations are included as part of the Fund’s overall 

movement below.

Five external companies were selected to undertake the valuations of 26 properties as at 30 June 2006, namely: CB Richard Ellis, 

Mills Fitchet, Old Mutual Properties, Investec Property Group and Valuation Alliance.   

The valuation movements on these twenty-six properties were as follows:

Directors’ 
valuations 

June 2005 (R’000)

Independent 
valuations

June 2006 (R’000)
Difference 

(%)
Difference 

(R’000)

Industrial 86 220 131 460 52,5% 45 240 

Office 400 099 509 560 27,4% 109 461 

Retail 276 395 365 555 32,3% 89 160 

762 714  1 006 575 32,0%  243 862 

Valuations of the remaining properties were undertaken as at 30 June 2006 by qualified valuers employed by RMB Properties (Pty) 

Limited. These valuations have been approved by the STREM board. 
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

Directors’  
valuations 
June 2005 

(R’000)

Directors’  
valuations 
June 2006 

(R’000)
Difference

(%)
Difference

(R’000)

Industrial 251 398 337 730 34,3% 86 332 

Office* 695 556 947 744 36,3% 252 188 

Retail 533 882  685 085 28,3% 151 203 

1 480 836 1 970 559 33,1%  489 723 

*Excludes all new purchases

As a result of the continued firming in the capitalisation rates, advantageous renewals in a number of properties and rising 

rentals in the majority of areas, property values improved markedly in all three sectors. 

Total portfolio movement

June 2005
(R’000) (R m2)

June 2006
(R’000) (R m2)

Difference
(%)

Difference
(R’000)

Industrial 337 618 1 948 469 190 2 693 39,0% 131 572

Office 1 111 646 4 671 1 572 429 6 187 41,5% 460 783

Retail 810 277 5 364 1 050 640 6 955 29,7% 240 363

General* 233 – – – 100% (233)

2 259 774 4 018 3 092 259 5 336 36,8% 832 485

Adjustment to  
fair value as per 
IAS17/IAS40

(32 669) (51 452) 57,5% (18 783)

Unamortised 
upfront lease costs 
as per IAS17/IAS40

(12 046) (14 936) 24,0% (2 890)

As reported 2 215 059 3 025 871 36,6% 810 812

*General relates to costs incurred on Gift Acres and Unilever properties.

4. NET ASSET VALUE OF THE FUND

The valuation of R3,09 billion has given rise to a change in fair value in the income statement totalling R661,1 million. The net 

asset value of the Fund at 30 June 2006 was 866 cents per participatory interest. The Fund’s listed price at the same date was 

850 cents per participatory interest, which indicates that the Fund was trading at close to net asset value.

5. GEARING

5.1 Current debt profile

As at June 2006 Emira had a total debt facility available of R690 million. This was based upon the June 2005 portfolio 

valuations of R2,23 billion, combined with the transfer of Lincolnwood Office Park and 122 Pybus Rd. Of this total facility, 

R522 million had been utilised, split into five tranches.  
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The breakdown is as follows:

Rate 

(%) Term

Amount 

(Rm) % of debt

1. Debt  – Floating Prime –2% N/A 107,4 20,6%

2. Debt – Fixed 9,76% November 2006 126,1 24,2%

3.  – Swap 9,24% September 2007 100,0 19,2%

4.  – Fixed 10,21% November 2008 100,0 19,2%

5.  – Swap 11,26% October 2009 88,5 17,0%

TOTAL 9,95%* 522,0 100%

* Weighted average cost of debt assuming prime at 11,5%

Emira has entered into additional interest rate swaps to further extend the maturities of the nearest-dated facility 2 above: 

Rate 

(%) Term

Amount 

(Rm) % of debt

2. Debt  – Swap 10,6% Nov ’06 to Nov ‘11 126,1 24,2%

The net effect of these swaps is that Emira’s current debt profile can be illustrated below.

�� �

������������� ��������

���

���

���

��

��

��

��

�

���

���

���

��

��

��

��

��

��������

���� ����
�� ��

�

���� �� ��
��� �� ��

���� ����
�� ��

�

����� � ���� �
� �

� ����

����� � ��
�� ��

��

����
�� ��

�

In summary: as at June 2006 the majority (79%) of the Fund’s debt had been fixed for periods of between 15-months and in 

excess of five years, with the remaining portion (21%) at rates linked to prime. Favourable interest rates on certain of these 

tranches give the Fund an effective weighted average cost of debt of 9,95%.
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

5.2 Future debt requirements

As at June 2006 Emira had a total debt facility available of 

R690 million. This was based upon the June 2005 portfolio 

valuations of R2,23 billion, combined with transfer of 

Lincolnwood and 122 Pybus Rd. Of this total facility, 

R522 million had been granted, split into five tranches.  

The Collective Investment Schemes Control Act prohibits 

property unit trusts from gearing to levels in excess of 

30%. Using the total assets as at June 2006 of R3,1 billion, 

Emira’s debt facility could therefore potentially increase to 

R930 million.

Moreover, assuming that the existing portfolio is bolstered 

by the new properties acquired from Momentum and 

RMB Properties totalling R845 million, the Fund’s gearing 

level could be raised to a maximum of R1,2 billion. 

This potential additional facility plus the cash realised from 

the sale of non-core properties mentioned above will be 

utilised to fund acquisitions as well as refurbishments of 

and extensions to the existing portfolio.

6.  EMIRA AND THE PROPERTY 

TRANSFORMATION CHARTER

In 2005 the STREM board recognised that there were a 

number of compelling reasons to introduce BEE partners 

into the Fund.  These included, but were not limited to:

•  transferring ownership of land to people who were 

previously denied access to land through discriminatory 

policy and legislation; 

•  empowering previously disadvantaged individuals in 

order to redress the imbalances of the past; and

•  achieving a change in the racial and gender composition 

of ownership, control and management within the 

property sector. 

The charter entered into between representatives of the 

South African property industry and the Department of 

Public Works lists these reasons amongst its objectives 

and the directors believe that the recently concluded BEE 

transaction is the first step towards achieving the targets 

as set out in the charter. 

The STREM directorate would like to take this opportunity to 

welcome Emira’s new shareholders, each of whom brings a 

separate set of skills or characteristics as described below.

6.1 The Tiso Group

Tiso is a leading black-owned, controlled and managed 

investment company investing in the natural resources, 

financial services and industrial services, employing in excess 

of 20 individuals with a diverse but complementary set of 

business and entrepreneurial skills.  Tiso is predominantly 

controlled (43%) by its management and the Tiso Foundation 

(16%), a registered public benefit organisation created for 

the purpose of ensuring broad-based equity participation in 

Tiso beyond that of its employees. Other shareholders 

include Investec, Standard Bank and RMB (41%). 

Established in 2001 by Fani Titi, David Adomakoh and 

Nkululeko Sowazi, Tiso’s strategy is to:

•  acquire investments in and/or control of enterprises in the 

natural resources, financial services and industrial services 

selected sectors of the economy; and

•  enter into a limited number of strategic BEE partnerships 

with select partners.

Tiso is the controlling shareholder of Idwala Industrial 

Holdings, whilst strategic partnerships include Aveng, AECI 

and Investec.

6.2 The Shalamuka Foundation

The Shalamuka Foundation is a trust that is to be 

registered on behalf of the Penreach Programme, a school-

based outreach programme, that was established in 1993, 

with the goal of uplifting the standard of education in 

under-resourced communities. Based in Nelspruit and 

servicing the surrounding areas of Mpumalanga, it is 

currently the largest such programme in Africa, assisting 

approximately 2 000 teachers and 900 schools each year. 

Penreach is managed by full-time staff and governed by a 

board of trustees. 
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The establishment of the Shalamuka Foundation will 

ensure that this important programme continues to 

benefit the communities it serves. Shalamuka’s trustees 

will include Mr Paul Harris, Ms Phutumile Dumisa, Mrs 

Leah Gcabashe, Mrs Yvonne Chaka Chaka-Mhinga and 

Justice Phineas Mojapelo.

6.3 Avuka

Avuka is a black-controlled company established in 2005.  

The company is wholly owned by the following black 

women:

•  Dr Lulu Gwagwa: ex-Deputy Director General in the 

Department of Public Works and a non-executive director 

on the boards of the Airports Company of South Africa 

(“ACSA”), FirstRand, the Development Bank of Southern 

Africa (“DBSA”) and the Mineworkers Investment 

Company; 

•  Mrs Nocawe Makiwane: Managing Director of Avuka 

Investments and non-executive director of National 

Housing Finance Corporation (“NHFC”);

•  Nhlanhla Mjoli Mncube: Economic adviser to the Deputy 

President of South Africa and a board member of Pioneer 

Foods, Capitec Bank, Cadiz Holdings and the NHFC;

•  Ms Monhla Hlahla: Chief executive of ACSA and an ex-

executive of Old Mutual, the DBSA and the 

Commonwealth Africa Investment Fund. Ms Hlahla was 

voted South Africa’s Business Woman of the Year for 

2005.

6.4 Mr Ben van der Ross

Mr Ben van der Ross is the Chairman of STREM.   

Mr Van der Ross also serves on the boards of FirstRand, 

Naspers and Momentum.  

6.5 Black employees

In terms of the existing contracts between STREM and 

RMB Properties, all asset and property management 

functions are currently outsourced to RMB Properties. RMB 

Properties employs approximately 113 black individuals, 

many of whom are responsible for the administration of 

the Fund and the day-to-day management of properties 

owned by Emira.

It is proposed that a portion of the PIs to be issued in terms 

of the BEE transaction will be utilised to retain and 

incentivise existing black employees and to attract future 

black executives.

7. PROSPECTS FOR EMIRA

Market conditions in the retail property sector remain 

buoyant, although the rate of growth in retail sales has 

slowed in recent months. The low vacancies in the 

industrial sector, coupled with the strong GDP growth and 

lack of availability of developable land bode well for this 

sector.  

National vacancies in the office sector have been declining 

consistently, and this, together with rising building costs, 

indicates that office rentals are poised for real growth in 

the near future. These strong fundamentals in the physical 

market mean that income growth from investment 

properties is likely to continue at robust levels for the 

foreseeable future. 

Economists remain divided over the outlook for local 

interest rates over the short to medium term.  Should 

prime rates rise by a further 50 to 100 basis points (on top 

of the recent 100 basis point increase in prime), then it is 

not expected that the income streams from investment 

properties will be significantly impacted, although debt 

costs could rise proportionately.  Should interest rates rise 

by more than this, however, there may be an adverse 

impact on property income streams.

The acquisition of the portfolio from Momentum and RMB 

Properties will reduce Emira’s reliance on office properties 

and increase the retail component of the Fund’s asset 

base, such that these two sectors will each comprise 

slightly in excess of 40% of the Emira portfolio, with the 

balance of the Emira portfolio consisting of industrial 

properties, and will enhance the net income growth of the 

Fund over the medium to long term.
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

8. MANAGEMENT OF THE FUND

8.1 STREM and sub-contract of asset management 

STREM has been approved by the Registrar of Collective 

Investment Schemes to manage the Emira Property 

Scheme. STREM has entered into an asset management 

agreement with RMB Properties to administer the affairs 

of the scheme. 

STREM will receive an amount equal to 0,5% of the total 

market capitalisation of the Fund, calculated monthly on 

the average daily closing price of the Fund as recorded by 

the JSE Limited, plus the total long-term borrowings. 

Fees paid for the period amounted to R15,3 million (2005: 

R10,59 million).

8.2 Property management

Property management of the Fund has been outsourced to 

RMB Properties (Pty) Limited, a subsidiary company of 

FirstRand. Property management fees and commissions 

paid for the period were R23,7 million  

(2005: R22,7 million).

9. DIRECTORATE

Details of the directors are set out elsewhere in this report. 

According to the articles of association of STREM, the 

executive and non-executive directors shall retire at the 

following annual general meeting of STREM and will be 

eligible for re-election.

Subsequent to year-end Nkululeko Sowazi and Nocawe 

Makiwane were appointed to the board of directors of 

STREM as representatives of the Tiso Group and Avuka 

respectively. Their details are set out under the section 

entitled Directorate and Administration.

10. SECRETARY OF THE FUND

The secretary is Claire Middlemiss who was appointed on 

15 September 2003.  Her business and postal addresses, 

which are also the Fund’s registered and business addresses, 

are set out at the end of the annual report.

11. AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been appointed as the 

fund’s auditors.

12.  DIRECTORS OF STREM’S HOLDINGS OF 

PARTICIPATORY INTERESTS

The directors’ holdings in the participatory interests of the 

fund as at 30 June 2006 were as follows:

Beneficial

Director 2005 2006

Executive directors:

Warren Schultze (indirect) 301 000 301 000

James Templeton (direct) 89 800 89 800

Non-executive directors:

Thys Neser (direct) — 40 000

Total 390 800 430 800

There have been no changes in their interests between the 

end of the financial year and the date of the annual 

report.

No non-beneficial participatory interests were held by any 

of the directors.  



23

13.  PI HOLDERS’ PROFILE AND JSE INFORMATION AT 30 JUNE 2006

Non-public
Participatory 

interests
Number 

of holders
% of 

capital
% of 

holders

Directors

(of management company) 89 800 1 0,05 0,1

Directors’ associates 341 000 2 0,10 0,3

TOTALS 430 800 3 0,15 0,4

Public
Participatory 

interests
Number 

of holders
% of 

capital
% of 

holders

Insurance companies 112 000 452 19 39,00 2,4

Investment trusts 75 211 133 57 26,20 7,2

Pension funds 15 931 228 41 5,60 5,2

Unit trusts 7 427 482 100 2,60 12,6

Other 75 827 677 572 26,40 72,2

TOTALS 286 397 972 789 99,85 99,6

 286 828 772 792 100,00 100,0

Range analysis as at 30 June 2006

Range Holders
% of 

holders
Number 

of PI
% of 

issued capital

1 – 5 000 289 36,5 671 494 0,2

5 001 – 10 000 117 14,8 934 550 0,3

10 001  – 100 000 249 31,4 8 343 735 2,9

100 001  – 500 000 81 10,2 19 230 891 6,7

500 001  – 1 000 000 34 4,3 15 524 395 5,4

Over – 1 000 000 22 2,8 242 123 707 84,5

 792 100,0 286 828 772 100,0

The following holders of PIs hold, directly or indirectly, at 30 June 2006, in excess of 5% of the ordinary issued capital

Holder
Participatory 

interests
% of 

issued capital

Momentum Life Assurers Limited 110  371 711 38,48

List of managers managing more than 5% of the ordinary issued capital

Manager
Number 
of funds

% of 
issued capital

RMB Asset Managers 41 42,6

Stanlib 12 14,7

Marriot Asset Management 4 7,33
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Manager’s report, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

14. MAJOR INTEREST HOLDER

Momentum is the majority interest holder in Emira with 

38.48% of the participatory interests in issue.

15. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

A full list of the special resolutions passed by the Fund 

during the year will be made available to participatory 

interest holders on request. 

16.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS TO THE  

BALANCE SHEET DATE

Subsequent to year-end, PI holders approved the purchase 

of the portfolio of properties from Momentum and RMB 

Properties for R844 million, the impact of which has been 

dealt with in this report. 

Moreover, PI holders also approved the introduction of a 

14,2% BEE shareholding into Emira. This has seen Nkululeko 

Sowazi and Nocawe Makiwane being appointed to the 

board of directors of STREM as representatives of the Tiso 

Group and Avuka respectively, effective from 24 August 

2006.

In terms of the Newlands Terraces legal agreements, Emira 

paid RMB Properties the purchase consideration for the 

development on 1 September 2006, with net income 

accruing to Emira from this date.

Subsequent to the above-mentioned transaction, an 

additional 15 million units have been issued.

17. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

The directors of STREM are remunerated from the 

management fee payable by the Fund. 
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Directorate & administration

Directors of the management company, Strategic Real 

Estate Managers (Pty) Limited (STREM)

The full names, ages, qualifications, occupations and profiles of 

the directors of STREM are as follows:

1.  Benedict James van der Ross (58)  

 (Non-executive Chairman) 

 Qualifications Dip Law 

 Occupation Company director

  Mr Van der Ross was admitted to the Cape Bar as attorney in 

1970 and practised law in his own capacity until 1988.  He 

has served as director of various companies including 

Executive Director for the Urban Foundation and Independent 

Development Trust. 

  He was appointed Commissioner to the First Independent 

Electoral Commission by the State President on the advice of 

the Transitional Executive Council and subsequently served 

as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Independent 

Development Trust and acting Chief Executive Officer of 

South African Rail Commuter Corporation.  

  He currently serves on the boards of FirstRand, Naspers, 

Momentum Group, and is the chairman of RMB Asset 

Management. 

2.  Warren Kirkwood Schultze (46)  

 (Executive director) 

 Qualifications BCom, BAcc, CA(SA)

 Occupation  Chief Executive Officer of 

RMB Properties

  Prior to joining RMB Properties, Mr Schultze served his 

articles with Arthur Young and was later appointed as 

financial director for two property financing and property 

trading companies and during this time he gained extensive 

experience in property asset management, property financing 

and property trading activities. 

  He was appointed as Chief Operating Officer of RMB 

Properties in 2000 and Chief Executive Officer in 2004.

3.  James William Andrew Templeton (33)  

 (Chief Executive Officer) 

 Qualifications BCom (Hons), CFA

 Occupation  Chief Executive Officer of Strategic Real 

Estate Managers (Pty) Limited

  Mr Templeton joined RMB Properties in April 2004 as 

Business Development Executive. Previously he was employed 

at Barnard Jacobs Mellet Securities as an equities analyst for 

seven years. 

  He was the top-ranked analyst in the Real Estate sector 

according to the Financial Mail in 2002 and 2003 and was 

appointed CEO of STREM in July 2004. Mr Templeton 

currently also serves as the Chairman of the Association of 

Property Unit Trusts.

4.  Liliane Barnard (42)  

 (Independent non-executive director)

 Qualifications  BCom

 Occupation  Consultant

  Ms Barnard has 18 years’ experience in the asset management 

industry. She headed the asset management of Old Mutual 

Properties (Pty) Limited and had eleven years experience in 

managing listed property portfolios for Old Mutual Asset 

Managers (Pty) Limited. She now acts as consultant to the 

listed property industry and its investors. 

  She is also an independent non-executive director of Redefine 

Income Fund.

5.  Matthys Stefanus Benjamin Neser (50)  

 (Independent non-executive director) 

 Qualifications BSc (Building Management), MBA

 Occupation Director

  Mr Neser has been involved with the Abcon group of 

companies since 1981 and has acted as Chief Executive 

Officer for the various companies in the group since the early 

1990s.  He is active in the residential and commercial 

property field as well as in the juice, mushroom, flower and 

service station industries.
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Directorate & administration continued

6.  Leon Basson (37)  

 (Non-executive director) 

 Qualifications BCom (Hons) CTA, CA(SA) 

 Occupation  Chief Financial Officer of Momentum 

Retail Insurance

  Mr Basson has been with Momentum since January 1995.  He 

served his articles at Price Waterhouse from 1991 to 1993 and 

subsequently worked for Price Waterhouse until the end of 

1994. 

7.  Nkululeko Leonard Sowazi (43)  

 (Non-executive director) 

 Qualifications  Masters degree in Urban and Regional 

planning, University of California, 

Los Angeles

 Occupation Deputy Chairman of the TisoGroup

  Mr Sowazi is the founding deputy Chairman of the TisoGroup, 

a black empowerment investment company with interests in 

natural resources, industrial services and investment banking. 

He is currently a member of the boards of Grinaker-LTA, Trident 

Steel (Pty) Ltd, African Explosives Limited, Alstom SA and 

Improchem. He is also Chairman of Idwala Industrial Holdings, 

The Home Loan Guarantee Company and The Financial 

Markets Trust.

  He was previously Executive Deputy Chairman of African Bank 

Investments Limited and prior to that Managing Director of 

the Mortgage Indemnity Fund (Pty) Ltd. He also served on the 

boards of Kagiso Trust Investment Company, Kagiso Media and 

Development Bank of South Africa.

  Mr Sowazi was appointed as a non-executive director, effective 

from 24 August 2006.

8.  Nocawe Makiwane (48) 

 (Non-executive director) 

 Qualifications  B.Soc.Science (UCT) BA(Hons) 

Economics (Wits), Executive leadership 

programme (Wharton Business School), 

MBA (University of Exeter)

 Occupation  Managing Director of Avuka Investments 

  Ms Makiwane has served on the boards of Sentech, National 

Electricity Regulator and Blitec, a 100% black owned IT 

Company. Currently she serves as a non-executive director of 

National Housing Finance Corporation (NHFC), a parastatal 

specialising on wholesale financing for low-income housing, 

and Rural Housing Loan Fund, a section 21 company focusing 

on facilitating housing and finance to rural communities in 

South Africa.

  Ms Makiwane was appointed as a non-executive director, 

effective from 24 August 2006.
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Corporate governance

The directors of STREM acknowledge the importance of the 

principles of good corporate governance and support the Code 

of Corporate Practices and Conduct contained in the King II 

report (“the Code”) and recognise their responsibility to conduct 

the affairs of Emira with integrity, openness and accountability 

in accordance with generally accepted corporate practices. 

Although Emira is listed on the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and therefore 

subject to the Code, it is not a legal entity and is regulated in 

terms of the Collective Investments Schemes Control Act of 

2002 (“CISC Act”). Certain requirements of the code are 

therefore not directly applicable to the Fund. However, the 

managers have adopted the principles of the Code, being 

fairness, accountability, responsibility and transparency.

The Fund has complied with the Code to the following extent:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Structure

As at 30 June 2006 the board consisted of six members:

The capacity of the directors may be categorised as 

follows:

Executive directors: Messrs JWA Templeton and WK Schultze are 

employed by RMB Properties (Pty) Limited, and remunerated 

out of the service charge payable by the Fund to STREM.

Non-executive directors: Mr L Basson represents Momentum 

Group Limited, which is a significant participatory interest 

holder. Mr BJ van der Ross is a director of FirstRand Limited and 

Momentum Group Limited. 

Independent non-executive directors: Mr MSB Neser and  

Ms L Barnard are not significant holders of Emira participatory 

interests, as defined in the Code.

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are completely 

separated. The directors have a wide range of skills, all with 

property experience in common.

The board schedules to meet at least four times per year. In 

addition, ten asset performance committee meetings were held 

during the year and were attended by the executive members of 

the board.

All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services 

of the Fund’s secretary and to the Fund’s records, information, 

documents and property. Non-executive directors also have 

unfettered access to management at any time. 

The board will ensure that it has the expertise, independence 

and diversity it needs to function independently.  

Independence of the board from the management team  

will be maintained by:

•  maintaining a non-executive chairperson;

•  maintaining a balance of executive and non-executive 

directors;

Director Date appointed 
Number of 

board meetings Meetings attended 

Executive directors

JWA Templeton* (CEO) July 2004 7 7

WK Schultze* September 2003 7 6

Non-executive directors 

BJ van der Ross* (Chairman) September 2003 7 6

L Barnard September 2003 7 7

L Basson ** September 2003 7 7

MSB Neser* September 2003 7 7

*  Audit committee

**  Audit committee chairman
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Corporate governance continued

•  the remuneration of the non-executive directors being 

unrelated to the financial performance of Emira; and

•  all directors being entitled to seek independent professional 

advice concerning the affairs of Emira at the Fund’s expense.

The board sets the strategic objectives of the Fund and 

determines the investment and performance criteria as well as 

being responsible for the proper management, control 

compliance and ethical behaviour of the business under its 

direction. 

Committees

Audit committee

The audit committee comprises five members of which the 

chairman is non-executive. The committee meets at least three 

times per year with the Fund’s external auditors and executive 

management as well as the executives responsible for finance, 

the compliance officer and internal auditors.

The primary objectives of the committee are to provide the 

board with additional independent and objective assurance 

regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial 

information used by the directors, to assist them in the 

discharge of their duties. The audit committee is required to 

provide reasonable assurance to the board that adequate and 

appropriate financial and operating controls are in place; that 

significant business, financial and other risks have been 

identified and are being suitably managed; and that 

satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and compliance 

are in operation. The committee also monitors proposed 

changes in accounting policies, and discusses and advises the 

board on the accounting implications of major transactions.

The board is responsible for the group’s system of internal and 

operational control. The executive directors will be charged 

with the responsibility of ensuring that assets are protected, 

systems operate effectively and all valid transactions are 

recorded properly. Comprehensive reviews and testing of the 

effectiveness of the internal control systems in operation will 

be performed by internal auditors, who report to the audit 

committee. The internal audit function will co-ordinate with 

other internal and external providers of assurance to ensure 

proper coverage of financial, operational and compliance 

controls.

The committee has the co-operation of all directors, 

management and staff and is satisfied that controls and 

systems within the Fund have been adhered to and, where 

necessary, improved during the period under review.

Remuneration committee

Due to the minimal staff employed by the manager, it is not 

deemed necessary for the board to establish a remuneration 

committee.

Investment committee

An investment committee comprises two executive directors, 

and four senior staff employed by RMB Properties (Pty) 

Limited. with the appropriate skills and experience. The 

committee meets on an ad-hoc basis during the period under 

review to assess acquisitions and disposals, and makes 

recommendations to the board.  

Managing and financial control

During the year independent internal auditors performed a 

management and financial control review. No significant 

weaknesses were identified and the overall conclusion was that 

the:

•  directors had maintained an adequate system of internal 

controls and accounting records;

•  the Fund’s assets are safeguarded and appropriately insured;

•  the Fund should remain a going concern for the foreseeable 

future; and

•  management understood the Fund’s policy and employed 

the appropriate strategy.

Directors’ dealings 

The board has adopted policies prohibiting dealings by 

directors and certain other managers in periods immediately 

preceding the announcement of its interim and year-end 

financial results and at any other time deemed necessary by 

the board or as required in terms of the JSE regulations.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Pty) Limited (STREM) are responsible for the preparation, integrity, and fair 

presentation of the financial statements of the Fund.  The financial statements presented on pages 32 to 52 have been prepared 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and include amounts based on judgements and estimates made 

by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, 

consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all statements of International 

Financial Reporting Standard that they consider to be applicable have been followed.  

The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the 

period and the financial position of the Fund at year-end.  The directors also prepared the other information included in the report 

and are responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with the financial statements.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting records are kept.  The accounting records should disclose with 

reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Fund to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with 

the relevant legislation.

The Fund operated in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly reviewed.  This incorporates 

risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets 

are safeguarded and the risks facing the business, are being controlled.

The going-concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.  The directors have no reason to believe that 

the Fund will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources.  These financial 

statements support the viability of the Fund.

The Fund’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated, audited the financial statements, and their report is presented 

on page 31.

  

BJ van der Ross  JWA Templeton

Chairman  Chief Executive Officer

Approval of annual financial statements

The annual financial statements of the Fund, incorporating statutorily required information in respect of the Fund, for the year 

ended 30 June 2006 set out on pages 32 to 52 were approved by the board of directors of STREM on 24 August 2006 and are 

signed on its behalf by:

  

BJ van der Ross  JWA Templeton

Chairman  Chief Executive Officer
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Report of the independent auditors

TO THE PARTICIPATORY INTEREST HOLDERS OF EMIRA PROPERTY FUND

We have audited the annual financial statements of Emira Property Fund set out on pages 32 to 52 for the year ended 30 June 

2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of STREM’s directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit. 

SCOPE

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of Emira Property Fund at  

30 June 2006, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Collective Investment Schemes Control Act, No 45 of 2002. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Director: S  Masuku Johannesburg

Registered Auditor 24 August 2006

Report of the Trustee, for the year ended 30 June 2006

In terms of section 70(1)(f) of the Collective Investment Schemes Control Act, No. 45 of 2002

TO THE PARTICIPATORY INTEREST HOLDERS OF THE EMIRA PROPERTY FUND

During the period as set out above during which the Collective Investment Schemes Control Act, No. 45 of 2002 has been in effect 

the Trust has been administered in accordance with

 i. The limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the Manager by the Act; and

 ii.  The provisions of the Act and the deed

Absa Bank Limited Johannesburg

Trustee 17 August 2006
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Income statement, for the year ended 30 June 2006

Notes
2006

R’000
2005 Restated

R’000

Revenue 2 451 950 407 088

Property expenses (137 778) (113 292)

Administration expenses (15 259) (10 590)

Management expenses (13 727) (12 150)

Depreciation (7 532) (6 464)

Net income from property rental operations 3 277 654 264 592

Net fair value gains on investment property 661 154 240 124

Change in fair value as a result of straight lining lease rentals (18 783) (32 669)

Change in fair value as a result of amortising upfront lease costs (2 890) (8 017)

Change in fair value as a result of appreciation of property values 682 827 280 810

Profit on disposal of investment property 1 459 11 179

Maintenance fund expenses (855) (1 827)

Listing costs (128) (104)

Operating profit 939 284 513 964

Finance costs 4 (32 365) (45 662)

Investment income 4 1 417 3 554

Net profit for the period 908 336 471 856

Earnings per participatory interest (cents) 5 316,68 165,10
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Balance sheet, as at 30 June 2006

Notes
2006

R’000
2005 Restated

R’000

Assets

Non-current assets

Fair value of investment property 6 3 025 871 2 215 059

Allowance for future rental escalations 7 51 452 32 669

Unamortised upfront lease costs 8 14 936 12 046

Gross fair value of property assets 3 092 259 2 259 774

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 9 11 688 31 757

Cash and cash equivalents 10 652 9 252

12 340 41 009

Total assets 3 104 599 2 300 783

Equity and liabilities 

Participatory interests 11 1 425 094 1 425 094

Reserves 12 1 058 171 363 512

Equity capital and reserves 2 483 265 1 788 606

Non-current liabilities 

Long-term borrowings 13 458 330 364 141

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 13 3 224 1 867

Trade and other payables 14 50 531 34 257

Derivative financial instruments 15 92 11 757

Distributions payable to participatory interest holders 109 157 100 155

163 004 148 036

Total liabilities 621 334 512 177

Total equity and liabilities 3 104 599 2 300 783
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Cash flow statement, for the year ended 30 June 2006

Notes
2006

R’000
2005 Restated

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 16.1 298 459 196 087

Interest received 1 417 3 554

Interest paid (43 593) (33 905)

Distributions to participatory interest holders 16.2 (204 675) (173 306)

51 608 (7 570)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of investment properties (166 656) (104 693)

Acquisition of furniture and fittings (6 497) (8 984)

Proceeds on disposal of furniture and fittings 745 –

Proceeds on disposal of investment properties 16 654 40 455

Decrease  in maintenance fund – 24 104

(155 754) (49 118)

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of participatory interests – 8 750

Increase in borrowings 95 546 53 163

95 546 61 913

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (8 600) 5 225

Cash at the beginning of the year 9 252 4 027

Cash at the end of the year 652 9 252
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Statement of changes in equity, for the year ended 30 June 2006 

Participatory
 interest

R’000

Revaluation
 reserve

R’000

Retained
 earnings

R’000
Total

R’000

2005 (Restated)

Balance at 1 July 2004 1 416 344 85 576 (173) 1 501 747

Issue of participatory interest 8 750 – – 8 750

Net profit for the year – – 471 856 471 856

Distribution to PI holders – – (193 747) (193 747)

Allowance future rental escalation – 32 669 (32 669) –

Unamortised upfront lease cost – 8 017 (8 017) –

Fair value adjustments – 240 124 (240 124) –

Profit on disposal of investment property – 11 179 (11 179) –

Unrealised loss on interest rate swaps – (11 757) 11 757 –

Maintenance fund expenses – (1 827) 1 827 –

Balance at 30 June 2005 1 425 094 363 981 (469) 1 788 606

2006

Balance at 1 July 2005 1 425 094 363 981 (469) 1 788 606

Net profit for the year – – 908 336 908 336

Distribution to PI holders – – (213 677) (213 677)

Allowance for future rental escalations – 18 783 (18 783) –

Net fair value gains on investment properties – 661 154 (661 154) –

Profit on sale of investment property – 1 459 (1 459) –

Unrealised gains on interest rate swaps – 11 665 (11 665) –

Maintenance fund expenses – (855) 855 –

Unamortised upfront lease costs – 2 890 (2 890) –

Balance at 30 June 2006 1 425 094 1 059 077 (906) 2 483 265
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

  The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

 Basis of presentation

  The financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and incorporate 

the principal accounting policies set out below. IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, has 

been applied in preparing these statements. These financial statements are the first Emira Property Fund’s financial statements 

to be prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

  Due to the fact that the adoption of IFRS had no effect on the comparative amounts, a reconciliation has not been prepared.

 Change in accounting policies – Operating leases

  Upfront lease expenditure for operating leases is now recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the contract in 

accordance with IAS 17 International Accounting Standard 17 – Leases, the comparative figures have been restated accordingly. 

The impact on the opening retained income was nil and accordingly, no reconciliation has been prepared.

 1.1  Investment property

   Investment property comprises freehold land and buildings and installed equipment held for the purpose of earning rental 

income and for capital appreciation.

   Investment property is treated as long-term investment and is initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at 

fair value. The subsequent additions that enhance the value of the property are capitalised. Investment property under 

construction is valued at cost. 

   Maintenance and repairs which neither materially add to the value of the properties nor prolong their useful lives are 

expensed in the income statement.

   Independent valuations are obtained on a rotational basis so as to ensure that external independent valuation professionals 

have valued each property every three years. The directors value the remaining properties annually on an open market 

basis. 

   The valuation calculations are based on the aggregate of the net annual rents receivable and associated costs, using the 

discounted cash flow method. The discounted cash flow method takes projected cash flow and discounts them at a rate 

which is consistent with the comparable market transactions

   Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are included in the net income or loss for the year. The net gains or  

losses are transferred to a revaluation reserve and are not available for distribution, as set out in the trust deed of the Fund.

   Gains or losses arising from the disposal of investment properties, being the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying value, are brought to account in the determination of the net income/loss for the year. The net gains or 

losses are transferred to a capital reserve and are not available for distribution in accordance with the Fund’s trust deed. 

   Property located on land that is held under operating lease is classified as investment property as long as it is held for 

long-term rental yield.  These leases are classified as operating leases and have varying expiry dates from 15 to 45 years.

 1.2  Leases

   Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 

operating leases. The Fund is party to numerous leasing contracts as the lessor of property. The Fund does not enter into 

such contracts as lessee. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line 

basis over the period of the lease.



37

 1.3  Furniture and fittings

   Furniture and fittings are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost comprises the purchase price as well 

as all costs incurred in order to bring the asset to working condition.

   Depreciation is calculated at cost less any impairment and expected residual value on the straight-line method.

   The useful lives of furniture and fittings are five years

   Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

   Furniture and fittings are linked to specific properties. Consequently, any gains or losses on disposal are incorporated with 

the gains or losses of the investment property. 

   Furniture and fittings residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance sheet date.

 1.4  Impairment of assets

   The Fund assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there 

is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the 

asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets 

that can be reliably estimated. 

   Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the 

attention of the Fund about the following events:

  •  A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments

  •  Significant financial difficulty of the debtor

  •  The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties

  •  Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flow from a group of financial  

assets since the initial recognition of those assets.

    If any of the above indications exist and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are 

written down to their recoverable amount.

   Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

 1.5 Allowance for future rental escalation

    Allowance for future rental escalations represent the difference between the actual cash rentals received to date and the 

rental income recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease contracts.

 1.6 Unamortised upfront lease cost

   Upfront lease costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease period to which they relate. 

 1.7  Trade and other receivables

   Trade receivables are initially recognised at cost and subsequently at fair value. A provision for impairment of trade receivables 

is established when there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 

the original term of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the 

recoverable amount, being the present value of the expected cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest for similar 

borrowers.

 1.8  Cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and 

cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 

which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at fair value. 
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

 1.9  Borrowings

   Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred, when the Fund 

becomes party to the contractual provisions. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method; any difference between proceeds (net of amortised costs) and the redemption value is recognised in 

the income statement over the period of the borrowings as interest.

   Financial liabilities are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled, 

or has expired.

 1.10  Derivative financial instruments 

   The Fund uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing and 

investment activities. The Fund does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However, 

derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

   Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and subsequently stated at fair value. The gain or loss on 

re-measurement to fair value is recognised immediately to profit or loss. The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated 

amount that the group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current 

interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

 1.11  Trade and other payables

   Trade payables are carried at the fair value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods or services that have been 

received or supplied and invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier. Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present 

legal or constructive obligation as a result of the past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and in addition a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

 1.12  Offsetting

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset if there is a legal enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts 

and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 1.13  Revenue and expense recognition

 1.13.1  Revenue

    Comprises rental income and operating cost recoveries from tenants, but excludes Value Added Tax. Rental income 

is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease contracts.

  1.13.2  Investment income

    Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis, taking into account the principal amount outstanding 

to the effective rate over the period to maturity when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Fund.

 1.13.3  Operating leases

    Leases under which the lessor effectively retains the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as operating 

leases. Obligations incurred under operating leases are charged to the income statement in equal instalments over 

the period of the lease.

 1.13.4  Management fees

    Management fees payable to STREM (Pty) Ltd is equal to 0,5% of the total market capitalisation of the Fund, 

calculated monthly on the average daily closing price of the Fund as recorded by the JSE Securities Exchange South 

Africa, plus the total long-term borrowings. 



39

 1.13.5  Property management fees

    Property management fees payable to RMB Properties (Pty) Ltd are calculated based on the gross revenue collected 

using the market-related rates applicable to the type and occupancy of buildings.

 1.14  Borrowing costs

   All borrowing costs are recognised in the period in which they are incurred using the effective rate method. In the event 

that borrowing costs are incurred prior to the qualifying assets being ready for it intended use, such costs will be capitalised 

until such time as the asset is substantially ready for its intended use. Qualifying assets are those that necessarily take a 

substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use. Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which 

active development is interrupted. All other borrowing costs are expensed upon recognition. 

 1.15  Distributions to participatory interest holders

   Distributions to participatory interest holders are recognised in the period in which income is earned. The accrued income 

arising as a result of the difference between actual cash rental received and the amortised amount on a straight-line basis 

over the periods of the lease contracts is not distributable until realised. The additional profit arising as a result of the Fund 

the upfront lease costs amortising them over the period of the lease contracts is not distributable.

 1.16 Segment reporting

   Sectoral segments provide services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other sectoral 

segments. Geographical segments provide services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks and 

returns that are different from those components operating in other economic environments.

   The major sectoral segments are retail, office and industrial. Properties are classified as retail, office and industrial according 

to the nature of their tenants. The geographical split is a secondary segment, the major segments are Gauteng, Western and 

Eastern Cape, KwaZulu-Natal, Free State and North West.

   All segment revenue and expenses are directly attributable to the segment. Segment assets include all operating assets used 

by a segment, and consists principally of investment properties, current assets and property, plant and machinery. These 

assets and liabilities are all directly attributable to the segments. 

 1.17  Taxation

   No taxation is accounted for in the Fund as all distributable income is distributed to participatory interest holders and 

taxable in their hands.  As a result no deferred taxation has been raised.
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

2. REVENUE

Revenue from:

Operating lease rental income on investment properties 313 213 274 042

Allowance for future rental escalation 18 783 32 669

Recoveries of operating costs from tenants 119 954 100 377

451 950 407 088

3. NET INCOME FROM PROPERTY RENTAL OPERATIONS

Net income from property rental operations is arrived at after taking into account the 

following items:

Expenses  

Auditors’ remuneration 449 455

 Audit fee 433 439

 Expenses 16 16

Operating lease payments – leasehold properties 1 965 1 603

4.  FINANCE COSTS

Interest paid on long-terms loans (43 513) (33 562)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on interest-rate swap 11 665 (11 757)

Amortised borrowing costs (437) (296)

Interest paid other (80) (47)

Total financing costs (32 365) (45 662)

Investment income

Interest received on cash balances 1 417 1 987

Interest received on maintenance fund investment – 1 567

Total interest received 1 417 3 554
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2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

5. EARNINGS PER PARTICIPATORY INTEREST

Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings:   

Net profit for the year 908 336 471 856

Adjusted for:

Profit on disposal of investment property (1 459) (11 179)

Net fair value gains on investment property (661 154) (240 124)

Change in fair value as a result of straightlining lease rentals 18 783 32 669

Change in fair value as a result of amortising upfront lease costs 2 890 8 017

Change in fair value as a result of property appreciation in value (682 827) (280 810)

Headline earnings 245 723 220 553

Headline earnings per participatory interest (cents) 85,67 77,17

The calculation of headline earnings per participatory interest is based on net profit 

for the year of R908,3 million (2005: R471,8 million), adjusted for the profit on 

disposal and change in fair value of investment properties divided by the weighted  

average number of participatory interests in issue during the year of 286 828 772 

(2005: 285 805 380). 

The calculation of earnings per participatory interest is based on net profit for the 

year of R908,3 million (2005: R471,8 million), divided by the weighted average 

number of participatory interests in issue during the year of 286 828 772  

(2005: 285 805 380) (cents). 

316,68 165,10

Reconciliation of headline earnings to distribution per participatory interest:  

Headline earnings 245 723 220 553

Adjusted for:

Allowance for future rental escalation (18 783) (32 669)

Upfront unamortised lease costs (2 890) (8 017)

Unrealised (gain)/loss on interest swaps (11 665) 11 757

Maintenance fund expenses 855 1 827

Amortised borrowing costs 437 296

Distribution payable to participatory interest holders 213 677 193 747

Distribution per participatory interest (cents) 74,50 67,55

The calculation of distribution per participatory interest is based on headline earnings adjusted for non-distributable items, 

divided by the number of participatory interests in issue at the end of the period of 286 828 772 (2005: 286 828 772).
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

Freehold and
 leasehold buildings

R’000

Furniture and
 equipment

R’000
Total

R’000

6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Year ended 30 June 2006

Fair value at the beginning of the year 2 178 311 36 748 2 215 059

Additions 166 656 6 497 173 153

Disposals – cost (15 195) (1 001) (16 196)

Disposals – Accumulated depreciation 256 256

Depreciation (7 532) (7 532)

Surplus on revaluation 682 804 682 804

Allowance for future rental escalations (18 783) – (18 783)

Unamortised lease costs (2 890) – (2 890)

Fair value at the end of the year 2 990 903 34 968 3 025 871

At 30 June 2006

Cost 2 093 676 51 649 2  145 325

Accumulated depreciation (16 681) (16 681)

Revaluation 897 227 – 897 227

Fair value at the end of the year 2 990 903 34 968 3 025 871

Year ended 30 June 2005 (Restated)

Fair value at the beginning of the year 1 866 799 34 228 1 901 027

Additions 104 693 8 984 113 677

Disposals (29 276) – (29 276)

Depreciation – (6 464) (6 464)

Surplus on revaluation 280 810 – 280 810

Allowance for future rental escalation (32 669) – (32 669)

Unamortised upfront lease cost (12 046) – (12 046)

Fair value at the end of the year 2 178 311 36 748 2 215 059

At 30 June 2005 (Restated)

Cost 1 942 216 46 153 1 988 369

Accumulated depreciation – (9 405) (9 405)

Revaluation 236 095 – 236 095

Fair value at the end of the year 2 178 311 36 748 2 215 059

Investment properties pledged as security
Investment properties have been pledged as security by means of collateral mortgage bonds (refer note 13) to secure borrowing 
facilities totalling R522 million.

Property valuation 
One third of the property portfolio was valued by CB Richard Ellis, Mills Fitchet, Old Mutual Properties, Investec Property 
Group and Valuation Alliance. Directors’ valuations were performed by RMB Properties (Pty) Limited which employs registered 
valuers using mainly the discounted cash flow of the future income stream method. Refer to pages 53 to 59 for a listing of 
investment properties.
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2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

7. ALLOWANCE FOR FUTURE RENTAL ESCALATION

Opening balance 32 669 –

Income recognised during the year 18 783 32 669

Closing balance 51 452 32 669

8. UNAMORTISED UPFRONT LEASE  COSTS

Opening balance 12 046 –

Opening balance restatement – 4 029

Expenses deferred during the year 2 890 8 017

Closing balance 14 936 12 046

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 5 530 916

Less: Provision for non-recoverable receivables (2 464) (2 283)

Net trade receivables 3 066 (1 367)

Prepayments 1 700 1 420

Other receivables 6 922 31 704

11 688 31 757

Due within one year 11 688 31 757

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited as the Fund covers a wide spectrum of clients across a 

diverse property portfolio. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk beyond amounts provided 

for collection losses is inherent in trade receivables
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank 652 9 252

11. PARTICIPATORY INTERESTS

Authorised and issued

Opening balance 1 425 094 1 416 344

1 535 088 participatory interest of 570 cents each – 8 750

1 425 094 1 425 094

12. RESERVES

12.1 Revaluation reserve

Opening balance 363 981 85 576

Fair value adjustments 661 154 240 124

Profit on sale of investment property 1 459 11 179

Allowance for future rental escalations 18 783 32 669

Unamortised upfront lease costs 2 890 8 017

Unrealised gain/(loss) on interest rate swaps 11 665 (11 757)

Transfer of maintenance fund expenses (855) (1 827)

1 059 077 363 981

12.2 Accumulated loss

Opening balance (469) (173)

Net profit for the year 908 336 471 856

Distribution to participatory interest holders (213  677) (193 747)

Fair value adjustments (661 154) (240 124)

Allowance for future rental escalations (18 783) (32 669)

Unamortised upfront lease costs (2 890) (8 017)

Profit on sale of investment property (1 459) (11 179)

Unrealised (gain)/loss on interest rate swaps (11 665) 11 757

Transfer of maintenance fund expenses  855 1 827

Closing balance (906) (469)

Total reserves 1 058 171 363 512
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2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

13. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

13.1 Borrowings

13.1.1 FirstRand Bank – Fixed rate three-year funding term with a capital 

repayment upon termination 126 125 126 125

The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over fixed property with 

a carrying value of R3 092 million (note 6). The loan was due to 

terminate on 30 November 2006.  Interest is payable at a fixed 

interest rate of 9,76% p.a. nominal adjusted compounded monthly 

(nacm). The loan has been rolled over and the new termination date is 

November 2011 and the new fixed interest rate is 10,6% p.a. 

13.1.2 FirstRand Bank – Fixed rate five-year funding term with a capital 

repayment upon termination 100 000 100 000

The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over fixed property with 

a carrying value of R3 092 million (notes 6). The loan terminate on 

30 November 2008. Interest is payable at a fixed interest rate of 

10,21% p.a. nominally adjusted compounded monthly (nacm).

13.1.3 FirstRand Bank – Floating rate five-year funding term a capital 

repayment upon termination 78 000 —

The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over fixed property with a 

carrying value of R3 092 million (note 6). The loan terminates on 31 

October 2009. Interest is payable at a fixed interest rate of 11,26% p.a.

13.1.4 Standard Bank – Floating rate five-year funding term with a 

capital repayment upon termination 155 247 139 495

The loan is secured by a first mortgage bond over fixed property with 

a carrying value of R3 092 million (note 6). The loan terminates on 

30 November 2008. Interest is payable monthly at a floating interest 

rate of prime less 2% p.a. All surplus cash is applied to the floating 

facility to reduce gearing and interest costs.

13.2 Amortised borrowing cost

Opening balance (1 479) (1 066)

Mortgage bond costs capitalised to borrowings – (709)

Less: Amounts amortised 437 296

Borrowings 458 330 364 141

Short-term borrowings (FirstRand Bank – interest rate at prime) 3 224 1 867

Total borrowings 461 554 366 008
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

13. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (continued)

13.3 Debt funding

In terms of the trust deed, the Fund’s aggregated indebtedness may not exceed an amount equal to 30% of the gross 

value of the underlying assets of the Fund.  At 30 June 2006, the aggregate indebtedness amounted to 14,85% of the 

gross value of the underlying assets

As at June 2006 Emira had a total debt facility available of R690 million. This was based upon the June 2005 portfolio 

valuations of R2,23 billion, combined with transfer of Lincolnwood and 122 Pybus Road. Of this total facility, 

R522 million had been utilised, split into five tranches. 

The breakdown is as follows:

Rate 

(%) Term

Amount 

(Rm)

% of 

Debt

1. Debt  – Floating Prime-2% N/A  107,4  20,6%

2. Debt – Fixed 9,76% November 2006  126,1  24,2%

3.  – Swap 9,24% September 2007  100,0  19,2%

4.  – Fixed 10,21% November 2008  100,0  19,2%

5.  – Swap 11,26% October 2009  88,5  17,0%

TOTAL  9,95%*  522,0  100,0%

 * Weighted average cost of debt assuming prime at 11,5%.

 Emira has entered into additional interest rate swaps to further extend the maturities of the nearest-dated facility 2 above: 

Rate 

(%) Term

Amount 

(Rm)

% of 

Debt

2. Debt  – Swap  10,60% Nov ‘08 to Nov ’11  126,1  24,2%

2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 2 531 1 130

Tenant deposits 17 574 13 351

Accrued expenses 16 215 11 412

Prepaid debtors 4 900 –

Other payables 9  311 8 364

 50 531 34 257

Due within one year 50 531 34 257
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2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Net fair values of derivative liabilities at the balance sheet date were:

Interest rate swap contracts 92 11 757

92 11 757

Interest rate swaps

The notional principal amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 30 June 2006 was R414,6 million

(2005: R414,6 million). 

16. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

16.1 Cash generated from operations

Net profit for the year adjusted for: 908 336 471 856

Fair value adjustments (661  154) (248 141)

Allowance for future rental escalation (18 783) (32 669)

Unamortised upfront lease costs (2 890) (8 017)

Profit on disposal of investment properties (1 459) (11 179)

Interest received (1 417) (3 554)

Amortised borrowing costs 437 296

Depreciation 7 532 6 464

Unrealised (gain)/loss on interest rate swaps (11 665) 11 757

Interest paid 43 593 33 609

Operating profit before working capital changes 262  530 220 422

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 19 655 (19 471)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 16 274 (4 864)

Cash generated from operations 298 459 196 087

16.2 DISTRIBUTIONS TO PARTICIPATORY INTEREST HOLDERS

Distribution payable at the beginning of the year (100 155) (79 714)

Distributions per income statement (213 677) (193 747)

Distribution payable at the end of the year 109 157 100 155

Distribution paid to participatory interest holders (204 675) (173 306)
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

2006
R’000

2005 Restated
R’000

17. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is controlled by Momentum Group Limited and ultimately by FirstRand 

Limited. At 30 June 2006, Momentum owned 38,48% of the Fund’s participatory 

interest and the remaining 61,52% is widely held.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties: 

Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited 15 238 10 590

Relationship: Fellow subsidiary company of the FirstRand Group Companies

Rand Merchant Bank a division of FirstRand Bank Limited

Borrowings 226 125 226 125

Net finance costs 30 359                 23 166                 

Relationship: Fellow subsidiary company of the FirstRand Group Companies

RMB Properties (Proprietary) Limited 52 590 90 855

Expenditure comprising: property management fee and letting commissions 23 722 22 683

Faerie Glen Development 18 868 –

Development of Gift Acres Shopping Centre 10 000 68 172 

Relationship: Fellow subsidiary company of the FirstRand Group Companies

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Authorised capital expenditure

– Already contracted for 844 357 6 000

Total 844 357 6 000

The details of the current year’s commitments are in respect of five properties to be acquired from RMB Properties and 

Momentum. The details are as follows:

Transferred to Emira Sector Location GLA (m²)
Purchase price

(R’000)

Newlands Terraces Office Newlands, Cape Town 4 262 43 750

Wonderpark Shopping Centre Retail Karenpark, Pretoria 58 109 406 400

RTT Warehouse Industrial Bartlett, Johannesburg 44 085 217 117

WorldWear Retail Fairlands, Johannesburg 13 284 133 090

Wesbank House Office CBD, Cape Town 9 206 44 000 

Total 128 946 844 357

19. POST BALANCE SHEET  EVENTS

There are no other post balance sheet events other than those detailed in section 3 of the Managers’ Report.
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Dividend
  numbers

2006
(cents)

2005 
(cents)

20. DISTRIBUTION DETAILS

Distributions to PI holders

Interim (cents) 3 & 5 36,44 32,63

Final (cents) 4 & 6 38,06 34,92

For the year 74,50 67,55

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Fund’s activities are divided into three main categories namely:

•  Retail  – Comprise shopping centres

• Office  – Comprise decentralised commercial properties

• Industrial  – Comprise industrial properties

June 2006

Sectoral segments
Retail
R’000

Office
R’000

Industrial
R’000

Corporate
R’000

Total
R’000

Revenue 164 706 221 316 65 928 – 451 950

Revenue 155 159 215 904 62 104 – 433 167

Future rental escalation 9 547 5 412 3 824 – 18 783

Segmental result 

Net income from property rental operations 105 643 141 569 46 540 (16 098) 277 654

Depreciation 1 377 5 301 854 – 7 532

Net fair value gain on investment property 211 706 324 796 124 652 – 661 154

Other information 

Investment properties 1 023 305 1 545 197 457 369 – 3 025 871

Total assets 1 060 511 1 573 153 469 629 1 306 3 104 599

Trade and other payables 13 033 21 250 4 662 11 586 50 531

June 2005 (Restated)

Revenue 141 458 202 024 63 606 – 407 088

Revenue 129 259 187 613 57 547 – 374 419

Future rental escalations 12 199 14 411 6 059 – 32 669

Segmental result 

Net income from property rental operations 91 814 137 795 46 710 (11 727) 264 592

Depreciation 1 188 4 466 810 – 6 464

Change in fair value of investment properties 83 212 112 298 44 614 – 240 124

Other information 

Investment properties 793 326 1 091 976 329 524 233 2 215 059

Total assets 813 889 1 114 207 337 958 34 729 2 300 783

Trade and other payables 11 387 13 619 4 176 5 075 34 257

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Segment assets consist mainly of investment properties and fixed assets 
and exclude investments. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. 
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

June 2006

Geographical segments
Retail
R’000

Office
R’000

Industrial
R’000

Corporate
R’000

Total
R’000

Revenue

– Gauteng 119 168 178 188 36 916 – 334 272

– Western and Eastern Cape 13 273 12 594 10 596 – 36 463

– KwaZulu-Natal – 30 534 18 416 – 48 950

– Free State 26 563 – – – 26 563

– North West 5 702 – – – 5 702

 164 706 221 316 65 928 – 451 950

Total assets     

– Gauteng 764 855 1 233 162 271 647  1 306 2 270 970

– Western and Eastern Cape 98 140 111 831 90 279 – 300 250

– KwaZulu-Natal – 228 160 107 703 – 335 863

– Free State 174 121 – – – 174 121

– North West 23 395 – – – 23 395

 1 060 511 1 573 153 469 629 1 306 3 104 599

June 2005 (Restated)

Revenue

– Gauteng 98 980 164 582 36 956 – 300 518

– Western and Eastern Cape 13 365 15 249  9 380 – 37 994

– KwaZulu-Natal – 22 193 17 270 – 39 463

– Free State 24 643 – – – 24 643

– North West 4 470 – – – 4 470

 141 458 202 024 63 606 – 407 088

Total assets      

– Gauteng 587 273 888 425 195 365 32 499 1 703 562

– Western and Eastern Cape 78 467 67 581 55 957 1 251 203 256

– KwaZulu-Natal – 158 201 86 636 403 245 240

– Free State 128 049 – – 576 128 625

– North West 20 100 – – – 20 100

813 889 1 114 207 337 958 34 729 2 300 783
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22. RISK MANAGEMENT

The STREM management philosophy on risk recognises that managing risk is an integral part of generating sustainable unit holder 

value and enhancing stakeholder interest. It also recognises that an appropriate balance should be struck between entrepreneurial 

endeavour and sound business practice.

The management of STREM operates a risk management framework, which is based on COSO’s Enterprise Risk Management 

Framework. The underlying premise of enterprise risk management is that every entity exists to provide value for its stakeholders. 

All entities face uncertainty, and the challenge for management is to determine how much uncertainty to accept as it strives 

to grow stakeholder value.

Value is maximised when management sets strategy and objectives to strike an optimal balance between growth and return 

goals and related risks, and efficiently and effectively deploys resources in pursuit of the entity’s objectives.

Enterprise Risk Management in STREM encompasses:

 •  Aligning risk appetite and strategy which considers the risk appetite in evaluating strategic alternatives, setting related objectives, 

and developing mechanisms to manage related risks.

 •  Enhancing risk response decisions by selecting alternative risk response, which includes risk avoidance, reduction, sharing or 

acceptance.

 •  Reducing operational surprises and losses by gaining enhanced capabilities to identify potential events and establish responses.

 •   Identifying and managing multiple cross-enterprise risks.

 •  Seizing opportunities by identifying a full range of potential events.

 •  Improving deployment of capital by obtaining robust risk information to allow management to effectively assess overall capital 

needs and enhance capital allocation.

These capabilities inherent in enterprise risk management help management achieve the Fund’s performance and profitability 

targets and prevent loss of resources. Enterprise risk management helps to ensure effective reporting and compliance with laws 

and regulations, and helps avoid damage to the Fund’s reputation and associated consequences.

 Financial risk factors

  The financial instruments of the Fund consist mainly of deposits with banks, long-term borrowings, derivative instruments, 

accounts receivable and accounts payable. The Fund issues or purchases financial instruments in order to finance operations and 

to manage the interest rate risks that arise from these operations.

  The Fund’s credit, interest and liquidity risks are continuously monitored.

  The main objective of using financial instruments is to reduce the uncertainty over future cash flows arising principally as a result 

of interest rate fluctuations. The Fund finances its operations through the combination of bank borrowings and issue of additional 

units.

  Interest rate risk management

  As at 30 June 2006, more than 75% of total borrowing facilities were at fixed rates (in terms of the swap contracts).  A 1% hike 

in interest rate will decrease the distributable earnings by R1,074 million while a 1% decline in interest rate will increase the 

distributable earnings by R1,074 million.
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Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

22. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

 Credit risk management

 The Fund has no significant concentration of credit risk due to a large number of widespread tenants.

  The Fund has policies in place to ensure that lease agreements concluded are with tenants with an appropriate credit history. The 

Fund has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution, and cash transactions are limited to 

high credit quality financial institutions. The debts are monitored on a continuous basis in order to maintain a low default rate on 

trade receivables.

 Liquidity-risk management

  Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that cash resources are adequate to meet the funding requirements of the 

Fund.
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Offices 100 Armstrong 100 Armstrong Road, 
La Lucia Ridge

Imperial Bank (Pty) Limited
SAP Africa (Pty) Limited

 2 896  29 500  1,8% 0,7%

Offices 1059 Schoeman 
Street

1059 Schoeman 
Street, Hatfield 

S.A.B.C. TV News
The Embasy of Ireland
United Nations Office For Drug 
Control & Crime Prevention

 6 048  39 275  2,4% 1,0%

Offices 11 Park Lane 11 Park Lane, Parktown Netcare Gauteng Two (Pty) 
Limited 

 3 676  15 100  0,9% 0,4%

Offices 122 Pybus Road 122 Pybus Road, 
Sandton

MECS Africa (Pty) Limited
Rennies Travel (Pty) Limited

 5 219  21 445  1,3% 0,5%

Offices 267 West 267 West Avenue, 
Centurion

Afgri Operations Limited
Firstrand Bank Limited 
Momentum Group Limited

 9 799  73 500  4,4% 1,9%

Offices Bank Forum 337 Bronkhorst Street, 
New Muckleneuk, 
Pretoria

Firstrand Bank Limited
Nedbank Limited
Newtons Incorporated 

 7 687  46 500  2,8% 1,2%

Offices Boundary 
Terraces 

1 Mariendahl Lane, 
Newlands, Cape Town

African Harvest Fund Managers 
(Pty) Limited
Citadel Investment Service 
Limited 
Coronation Asset Management 
(Pty) Limited

 8 276  102 500  6,2% 2,6%

Offices Braamfontein 
Centre 

23 Jorissen Street, 
Braamfontein

CTH Legal Administration Trust 
Jet Education Services (Pty) 
Limited
Johannesburg Propcom (Pty) 
Limited
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited
The Ford Foundation 

 21 308  92 945  5,6% 2,4%

Offices Bradenham Hall Mellis Avenue, Rivonia Millward Brown SA (Pty) Limited  4 569  24 700  1,5% 0,6%

Offices Brooklyn Office 
Park 

Nicolson Street, 
Brooklyn

Austrian Embassy
Fast Communication Systems 
(Pty) Limited
Moores Rowland

 5 364  30 300  1,8% 0,8%

Offices Century Gate Cnr Century Boulevard 
& Bosmandam Road, 
Century City

Firstrand Bank Limited
Tricon Consulting Engineering 
(Pty) Limited

 1 369  9 400  0,6% 0,2%

Offices Contact Centre 
Winborne 

8 Sherborne Road, 
Parktown

Rossouws Inc.  1 184  6 290  0,4% 0,2%

Offices Dalefern 284 Oak Avenue, 
Ferndale

Health Science Academy (Pty) 
Limited
Only the Best (Pty) Limited
Primedia at Home (Pty) Limited

 3 792  15 250  0,9% 0,4%

Offices Deloitte Cnr Fehrsen Street 
& Waterkloof Road, 
Brooklyn

Deliotte  4 094  36 140  2,2% 0,9%

Offices Derby Downs Cnr Derby & Sookhai 
Place, Derby Downs

Lafarge South Africa (Pty) 
Limited
McCarthy Limited

 2 205  15 000  0,9% 0,4%
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Offices Dorbyl 
Parktown 

16 Jan Smuts Avenue, 
Parktown

Dorbyl Limited  2 346  22 000  1,3% 0,6%

Offices East Coast 
Radio House 

314/7 Umhlanga 
Rocks Drive, Umhlanga 
Rocks

Absa Bank Limited
East Coast Radio (Pty) Limited
Strauss Daly Inc 

 5 714  56 060  3,4% 1,4%

Offices East Rand 
Junction 

Cnr North & K90, 
Boksburg

Hammond Pole & Dixon Inc. 
Firstrand Bank Limited
Talknet Mobile Solutions (Pty) 
Limited

 6 710  30 100  1,8% 0,8%

Offices Epsom Downs 
Office Park 

13 Sloane Street, 
Bryanston

Angor Financial Services (Pty) 
Limited
Ikat Computing (Pty) Limited
Pra Pharmaceutical SA (Pty) 
Limited
Standard Bank Of S.A. Limited

 9 841  62 015  3,7% 1,6%

Offices Faerie Glen 291 Sprite Avenue, 
Faerie Glen

V.I.P Personnel & Payroll Systems 
(Pty) Limited

 5 647  32 380  2,0% 0,8%

Offices FNB Midrand Cnr 16th & Old 
Pretoria Road, Midrand

FirstRand Bank Limited  2 532  8 175  0,5% 0,2%

Offices Gateview 3 Sugar Close, 
Umhlanga

Almar Agencies as a division of 
Almar Container Group (Pty) 
Limited
Firstrand Bank Limited
Private Property Listing
The Internet Solutions (Pty) 
Limited

 2 714  19 650  1,2% 0,5%

Offices Knightsbridge 
Manor 

33 Sloane Street, 
Bryanston Ext 4

Afgri Operations Limited
Dovetail Business Solutions (Pty) 
Limited
Lionore South Africa (Pty) 
Limited
Managed Healthcare Systems 
(Pty) Limited

 9 589  59 600  3,6% 1,5%

Offices Lake Buena 
Vista 1 

Gordon Hood Avenue, 
Centurion

Pebble Bed Modular Reactor 
(Pty) Limited

 5 735  26 875  1,6% 0,7%

Offices Lincoln Wood 
Office Park 

Woodlands Drive, 
Woodmead

Iliad Africa Trading (Pty) Limited
Intersite Property Management 
Services (Pty) Limited
Reunert Management Services 
Limited
SA Rail Commuter Corporation 
Limited

 10 724  84 280  5,1% 2,1%

Offices Lone Creek Cnr Mac Mac & 
Howick Close, Midrand

Rockwell Automation (Pty) 
Limited

 5 659  32 965  2,0% 0,8%

Offices Lynnridge Mews Cnr Hibiscus Street & 
Jacobsen

EPI Use Systems (Pty) Limited 
Susca Watts Academy for 
Advanced Beauty Technology 
(Pty) Limited

 3 533  21 870  1,3% 0,6%
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Offices Menlyn Cnr Lois & Gobie 
Streets, Menlyn

Absa Bank Limited
First National Bank Limited
Liberty Group Limited
Standard Bank Of South Africa 
Limited

 9 850  70 505  4,2% 1,8%

Offices Midrand 
Business Park 

563 Main Road, 
Halfway House, 
Midrand

Construction Education & 
Training Authority
Molapo Technology (Pty) Limited
Orbtech Holdings Limited
Postnet Southern Africa (Pty) 
Limited

 13 373  44 360  2,7% 1,1%

Offices Momentum 
House 

Cnr Stanger, Prince 
Albert & Dunford 
Roads, Kingsmead, 
Durban

Hotline Administrative Services 
(Pty) Limited
Larson Burton & Falconer Inc.
Momentum Group Limited
Steinhof Manufacturing 
(Pty)Limited

 6 249  40 020  2,4% 1,0%

Offices Newlands 
Terraces 

Diagonally opposite 
the corner of Lower 
Kelvin & Boundary 
Roads, Newlands

UCS Software
Western Province Football Union

 4 262  43 750  2,6% 1,1%

Offices Nimas House 5 The Boulevard, 
Westway Office Park

National Independent Medical 
Aid Society

 1 372  15 500  0,9% 0,4%

Offices Oracle House Smuts Drive, Midrand Oracle Corporation SA (Pty) 
Limited 

 5 202  34 000  2,1% 0,9%

Offices Podium House Cnr Atterbury & Lois 
Avenues, Menlyn

Beget Solutions (Pty) Limited 
Nedbank Limited
Randbond Finance (Proprietary) 
Limited

 4 832  21 027  1,3% 0,5%

Offices Rentworks 48 Grosvenor Road, 
Bryanston

Rentworks (Pty) Limited  3 027  29 340  1,8% 0,7%

Offices Rigel Park 446 Rigel Avenue, 
Erasmusrand, Pretoria

Financial Services Board  4 533  28 767  1,7% 0,7%

Offices Sandgate Park 16 Desmond Street, 
Eastgate

Griffiths & Griffiths cc
Sanlam Life Insurance Limited
Symetrix (Pty) Limited 

 12 120  40 100  2,4% 1,0%

Offices The Gables 1209 Schoeman 
Street, Hatfield

Securicor SA (Pty) Limited  2 851  19 680  1,2% 0,5%

Offices Strathmore Park 305 Musgrave Road, 
Durban

Adcorp Holdings Limited
Citigate South Africa (Pty) 
Limited
Orion Telecom South Africa (Pty) 
Limited

 3 762  25 030  1,5% 0,6%

Offices Tuinhof 265 West Avenue, 
Centurion

Swiftnet (Pty) Limited 
Trans Caledon Tonnelowerheid 

 8 955  57 085  3,4% 1,5%

Offices Wesbank House Cnr Riebeeck, Long 
and Waterkant Streets, 
Cape Town 

Department of Labour
WesBank

 9 206  44 000  2,7% 1,1%
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Offices  Westway 17 The Boulevard, 
Westway Office Park, 
Westville

First National Asset Management  2 283  27 200  1,6% 0,7%

Offices Woodmead 
Office Park 

145 Western Services 
Road, Woodmead

DB Thermal (Pty) Limited 
South African Revenue Services 
Young & Rubicam Hedley Byrne 
(Pty) Limited

 17 514  106 000  6,4% 2,7%

Subtotal offices  267 624 1 660 179  100,0% 42,2%

Retail Boskruin 
Shopping 
Centre 

Cnr of President 
Fouche & Hawken 
Avenue, Bromhof

Woolworths (Pty) Limited  6 752  83 383  5,2% 2,1%

Retail Brandwag Melville Drive, 
Brandwag, 
Bloemfontein

Baby Boom
First National Bank Limited
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited 
SA Post Office Limited

 12 118  84 400  5,3% 2,1%

Retail Cresta Corner Cnr Beyers Naude 
Drive & Pendoring 
Street, Cresta

Kempster Sedgewick (Pty) 
Limited t/a Volvo
Nedbank Limited
Virgin Active (Pty) Limited 

 8 056  49 845  3,1% 1,3%

Retail Epsom Downs 
Shopping 
Centre 

13 Sloane Street, 
Bryanston

Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited  6 125  52 710  3,3% 1,3%

Retail Fourways Game Cnr Fourways 
Boulevard & Short 
Street, Fourways

Masstores (Pty) Limited  8 000  50 200  3,2% 1,3%

Retail Gateway 1319 Pretoria Street, 
Hatfield

McDonalds SA (Pty) Limited 
Umkhombe Investments No 11 
Cc T/A Spar

 1 768  10 445  0,7% 0,3%

Retail Gift Acres Lynnwood Road, 
Lynnwood Ridge

First National Bank Limited
Mr Price Group Limited 
Woolworths (Pty) Limited 

 9 363  100 765  6,3% 2,6%

Retail Linksfield Road Linksfield Road, 
Linksfield

Woolworths (Pty) Limited 
The Keg & Beagle
Regal Palace Chinese Restuarant 

 4 090  22 855 1,4% 0,6%

Retail Lynnridge Mall Cnr Freesia & 
Mayflower, Lynnwood 
Ridge

Mr Price Group Limited T/A Mr 
Price Home
The Standard Bank of SA Limited
Pick ‘n Pay Stores Limited 
Truworths Limited 285

 14 220  133 072  8,4% 3,4%

Retail Mafikeng Game Cnr Nelson Mandela 
& Victoria Streets, 
Mafikeng

Masstores (Pty) Limited  5 218  23 215  1,5% 0,6%

Retail Market Square Beacon Way, 
Plettenberg Bay

Mr Price Group Limited 
Pepkor Retail Limited
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited 
Woolworths (Pty) Limited 

 13 294  97 200  6,1% 2,5%
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Retail Quagga Centre Cnr Church & West 
Street, Pretoria West

Edgars Consolidated Stores 
Limited
JDG Trading (Pty) Limited
Mr Price Group Limited
New Clicks SA (Pty) Limited
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited 
Shoprite Checkers (Pty) Limited 

 22 611  120 000  7,5% 3,0%

Retail Randridge Mall John Vorster Drive, 
Randpark Ridge

Dischem 
Edgars Consolidated Stores 
Limited
Pepkor Retail Limited
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited 
Woolworths (Pty) Limited 
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited 

 18 957  134 450  8,5% 3,4%

Retail Southern 
Sentrum 

Benade Drive, 
Bloemfontein

 20 487  88 100  5,5% 2,2%

Retail Wonderpark Cnr of the R513 Brits 
Road & Heinrich 
Avenue, Karenpark

Cashbuild
Edgars Consolidated Stores 
Limited
Masstores (Pty) Limited 
Pick ’n Pay Stores Limited 
Virgin Active (Pty) Limited 

 58 109  406 400  25,6% 10,3%

Retail WorldWear 
Shopping 
Centre 

Cnr Beyers Naudé 
Drive and Wilson Road, 
Fairland

Adidas
Cape Storm
JB Rivers
Mr Price Group Limited
Seemans
The Pro-Shop

 13 284  133 090  8,4% 3,4%

Subtotal retail  222 450  1 590 130 100,0% 40,4%

Industrial Admiral House 151 Lechwe Street, 
Randjiespark

Danwet D55 (Pty) Limited
Mega Packaging
Sinoprima Investments & 
Manufactoring SA (Pty) Limited

 5 117  18 315  2,7% 0,5%

Industrial Aeroport 
- Fulcrum 

96 Loper Avenue, 
Spartan

Sturrock & Robson Industries 
Limited

 3 805  12 300  1,8% 0,3%

Industrial Aeroport 
- Grenco 

98 Loper Avenue, 
Spartan

Grenco (SA) (Pty) Limited  1 672  6 700  1,0% 0,2%

Industrial Arjo Wiggins 1 Monte Carlo Road, 
Mahogany Ridge, 
Pinetown

Antalis (Pty) Limited  6 907  24 000  3,5% 0,6%

Industrial Barracuda 82 Lechwe Street, 
Randjiespark

Glass Decorations CC 
McCarthy Limited

 6 698  17 855  2,6% 0,5%

Industrial Cambridge 
Park

Witkoppen Road, 
Paulshof

Danfoss (Pty) Limited 
Exact Mobile Phones (Pty) 
Limited 
Selex Office Automation (Pty) 
Limited

12 788 39 100 5,7% 1,0%

Industrial Electrocom Indianapolis Crescent, 
Kyalami

RS Components Limited  3 856  9 853  1,4% 0,3%
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Industrial Epping 
Warehouse 
(WGA) 

1 Bofors Circle, Epping Bonerts Motor Spares (Pty) 
Limited 
Nampak Products Limited T/A 
Nampak 

 25 076  43 200  6,3% 1,1%

Industrial  Evapco Cnr Quality and 
Barlow Streets, Isando

Evapco SA (Pty) Limited  5 294  12 000  1,7% 0,3%

Industrial Flexitainer 59 Lechwe Street, 
Randjiespark

Bridging Technologies South 
Africa (Pty) Limited

 1 714  3 230  0,5% 0,1%

Industrial Fosa Park 570 Inanda Road, 
Durban

Adcock Ingram Healthcare  
(Pty) Limited

 4 200  13 700  2,0% 0,3%

Industrial Freeway Park Cnr Barkley & Camp 
Roads, Maitland

Freefall Trading 199 (Pty) Limited 
The Gerber Goldschmidt Group 
(Pty) Limited
Torga Optical (Pty) Limited

 7 935  34 600  5,0% 0,9%

Industrial Goodyear 
Tycon 

Cochrane Avenue, 
Epping

Goodyear South Africa (Pty) 
Limited

 5 870  12 500  1,8% 0,3%

Industrial Greenfields 1455 North Coast 
Road, Durban North

City Park Trading 56 cc
Jolly Jumbo (Pty) Limited
Longlife Tyres (Pty) Limited
Standard Fireworks S.A. (Pty) 
Limited

 9 398  24 500  3,6% 0,6%

Industrial Industrial 
Village Jet Park 

Cnr Kelly Street and 
Ackerman Road, Jet 
Park

Bearing Power SA (Pty) Limited
Siemag Blanes (Pty) Limited
Tablebay Holdings (Pty) Limited
Universal Church of the Kingdom 
of God

 11 613  25 490  3,7% 0,6%

Industrial Industrial 
Village Kya 
Sands 

Cnr Elsecar & Bernie 
Streets, Kya Sands

Aqua-Touch (Pty) Limited
Group Africa Marketing (Pty) 
Limited
Poli-Film South Africa (Pty) 
Limited
Tate & Lyle South Africa (Pty) 
Limited

 16 659  38 145  5,6% 1,0%

Industrial Inspectorate Data Street, Ormonde Inspectorate M&L (Pty) Limited  2 704  6 435  0,9% 0,2%

Industrial Johnson & 
Johnson 

1 Medical Road, 
Midrand

Johnson & Johnson Medical (Pty) 
Limited

 3 561  10 995  1,6% 0,3%

Industrial Mitek South 
Africa 

16th Street, Midrand Mitek South Africa (Pty) Limited  6 604  21 260  3,1% 0,5%

Industrial Morgan Creek 38 Mahogany Road, 
Mahogany Ridge, 
Pinetown

Simba (Pty) Limited  4 644  15 300  2,2% 0,4%

Industrial New Zealand 
Milk Products 

Cnr 16th and Douglas 
Roads, Midrand

Clover Fonterrra Ingredients (Pty) 
Limited

 2 756  7 065  1,0% 0,2%

Industrial  One Highveld 5 Bellingham Street, 
Centurion

C.I.E. Group (Pty) Limited 
Tecor Group (Pty) Limited

 6 012  21 375  3,1% 0,5%

Industrial QD House 91-94 Silverstone 
Crescent, Kyalami

Alchemy Technologies (Pty) 
Limited 

 3 470  11 390  1,7% 0,3%
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Properties listing (Including new acquisitions)

Type  Property Location Major tenant   GLA 
Valuation 

(R’000) 
% of 

sector
% of 

portfolio

Industrial Rinaldo Park 50 Moreland Road, 
Redhill Industrial Park

Blaizing Sun Investments 44 
(Pty) Limited

 1 650  3 380  0,5% 0,1%

Industrial RTT Boksburg Cnr Jones & Springbok 
Roads, Bartlett

Fuel Logistics Group (Pty) 
Limited

 44 085  217 117 31,6% 5,5%

Industrial Siliconics Cnr Precision & Silicon 
Streets, Kya Sands

Control Techniques SA (Pty) 
Limited 

 1 452  3 390  0,5% 0,1%

Industrial The Wolds A 82 Intersite Avenue, 
Umgeni Business Park

Clipsal S.A. (Pty) Limited  1 710  5 800  0,8% 0,1%

Industrial The Wolds B 56 Intersite Avenue, 
Umgeni Business Park

Heildelberg Graphic Systems SA 
(Pty) Limited
Optiplan (Pty) Limited 

 830  2 570  0,4% 0,1%

Industrial Umgeni Road A 98-102 Intersite 
Avenue, Umgeni 
Business Park

Ubunye Uniforms (Pty) Limited  1 886  5 420  0,8% 0,1%

Industrial Umgeni Road B 19-23 Intersite Avenue, 
Umgeni Business Park

Kinesis Logistics (Pty) Limited 
Sahara Computers

 6 021  13 475  2,0% 0,3%

Industrial Xpanda 918 Morkels Close, 
Halfway House, 
Midrand

TCS John Huxley Africa (Pty) 
Limited
Spray Nozzle (Pty) Limited

 2 384  5 847  0,9% 0,1%

Subtotal industrial  218 371  686 307 100,0% 17,4%

Total investment properties  708 445 3 936 616 100,0%

Less properties acquired subsequent to the year-end (844 357)

Investment properties as at 30 June 2006 3 092 259
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  (STREM) 

Company information

REGISTRATION NUMBER 

1997/020911/07 

REGISTERED ADDRESS

3 Gwen Lane 

Sandton Central 

Sandton Central 

2196 

POSTAL ADDRESS

PO Box 786130 

Sandton 

2146 

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Johannesburg 

BANKERS

First National Bank Limited 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

JWA Templeton

WK Schultze  

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

L Barnard

L Basson

MSB Neser

BJ van der Ross 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

C Middlemiss

Company information 

A directors’ report has not been prepared as the company is a wholly owned subsidiary of FirstRand Asset Management 

(Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Income statement, for the year ended 30 June 2006

Notes
2006

R
2005

R

Turnover 15 238 132 10 590 157

Operating profit 4 73 786 29 546

Net interest income 5 1 658 47 780

Profit before tax 75 444 77 326

Tax 6 (21 879) (22 424)

Net profit for the year 53 565 54 902

Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Balance sheet, as at 30 June 2006

Notes
2006

R
2005

R

Assets

Current assets

Receivables and prepayments 1 513 864 1 188 229

Cash at bank 689 884 679 488

Total assets 2 203 748 1 867 717

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves

Share capital 2 200 200

Retained earnings 135 191 81 626

Shareholder’s funds 135 391 81 826

Non-current liabilities 

Long-term liabilities 3 703 017 600 000

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 1 354 533 1 175 467

Current tax liabilities 10 807 10 424

1 365 340 1 185 891 

Total equity and liabilities 2 203 748 1 867 717
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Cash flow statement, for the year ended 30 June 2006

Notes
2006

R
2005

R

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities 7 (72 783) 30 608

Net interest income 1 658 47 780

Tax paid 8 (21 496) (23 452)

Net cash utilised in operating activities (92 621) 54 936

Cash flow from financing activities

Loan from fellow subsidiary 103 017 –

Net cash generated by financing activities 103 017 –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10 396 54 936

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 679 488 624 552

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 689 884 679 488

Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Statement of changes in equity, for the year ended 30 June 2006

2006
R

2005
R

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares

Balance at beginning and end of year 200 200

Reserves

Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of year 81 626 26 724

Net profit for the year 53 565 54 902

Balance at end of year 135 191 81 626
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

  The principal accounting policies adopted in the presentation 

of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 

have been consistently applied to all years presented.

 Basis of preparation
  The financial statements were prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

and incorporate the principal accounting policies set-out 

below. IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards, has been applied in preparing these 

statements. These financial statements are the first Strategic 

Real Estate Managers (Pty) Limited financial statements to 

be prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

 1.1 Turnover

   Turnover comprises management fees received from 

Emira Property Fund accounted for on the accrual 

basis as services are performed. The fees are based on 

the substance of the management agreement.

 1.2 Trade and other payables

   Trade payables are carried at the fair value of the 

consideration to be paid in future for goods or services 

that have been received or supplied and invoiced or 

formally agreed with the supplier

 1.3 Cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance 

sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash flow 

statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and bank 

overdrafts. 

 1.4   Accounts receivable

   Trade receivables are initially recognised at cost and 

subsequently at fair value. A provision for impairment 

of trade receivables is established when there is 

objective evidence that the company will not be able 

to collect all amounts due according to the original 

term of the receivables. The amount of the provision 

is the difference between the carrying amount and 

the recoverable amount, being the present value of 

the expected cash flows, discounted at the market 

rate of interest for similar borrowers.

 1.5 Taxation

   Taxation is provided at current rates on net income 

before tax for the year after taking into account income 

and expenditure, which are not subject to taxation.

2006
R

2005
R

2. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary shares

4 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 4 000 4 000

Issued

Ordinary shares

200 shares of R1 each 200 200

3. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Owing to:

RMB Properties (Proprietary) Limited 703 017 600 000

703 017 600 000

The loan is unsecured and has no fixed terms of repayment. The balance of the loan amount outstanding from time to time 
shall bear interest at the top call deposit rate. The loan has been subordinated and the claims of any present or future creditor 
shall be preferred to any claims of the lender.
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4. OPERATING PROFIT

The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at operating profit:

2006
R

2005
R

Management fee paid to RMB Properties (Proprietary) Limited 13 190 255 8 561 096

Audit fees – current year 12 720 12 000

Operating lease expenses 83 952 79 200

Staff costs 1 372 880 1 248 000

Directors emoluments

Remuneration (executive directors) 686 880 648 000

JWA Templeton 400 000 380 000

WK Schultze 286 880 268 000

Directors fees (non-executive directors) 200 000 283 333 

MSB Neser 60 000 85 000

L Barnard 60 000 85 000

BJ van der Ross 80 000 113 333

Number Number

Number of employees at the end of the year 4 4

5. NET INTEREST INCOME
2006

R
2005

R

Interest received 42 916 93 898

Interest paid (41 258) (46 118)

1 658 47 780

6. TAX

South African normal taxation – current 21 879 22 424

Tax rate reconciliation % %

Standard and effective rate of taxation 29 29

7. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
2006

R
2005

R

Profit before tax 75 444 77 326

Adjusted for

Net interest income (1 658) (47 780)

Movements in working capital

Increase in receivables and prepayments (325 635) (273 825)

Increase in trade and other payables 179 066 274 887

(72 783) 30 608
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Notes to the financial statements, for the year ended 30 June 2006 continued

2006
R’000

2005
R’000

8. TAX PAID

Balance owing at beginning of year (10 424) (11 452)

Current tax charged in income statement (21 879) (22 424)

Balance owing at end of year 10 807 10 424

(21 496) (23 452)

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk

The company has no significant concentration of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 

value of each financial asset in the balance sheet.

Interest rate risk

The balance of the loan amount outstanding from time to time shall bear interest at the top call deposit rate.

Fair value

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables, other receivables and payables and interest-bearing borrowings 

approximate to their fair value. 

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The company is controlled by FirstRand Asset Management (Proprietary) Limited, which owns 100% of the company’s shares.  

The ultimate parent of the group is FirstRand Limited.
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Notice to Participatory Interest Holders

NOTICE OF MEETING
EMIRA PROPERTY FUND
(Participatory interest code: EMI, ISIN: ZAE000050712)
(“Emira” or “the Fund”)

Notice is hereby given that the third annual general meeting of  the members of Emira Property Fund will be held in the Boardroom, 
Third Floor, 3 Gwen Lane, Sandton at 14:00 on Tuesday, 31 October 2006 for the purpose of considering, and if deemed fit, passing 
with or without modification, the resolutions set out below:

1. ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1.1 Ordinary resolution number 1

“Resolved that the annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 including the management company’s 
report and the report of the auditors thereon, be received, considered and approved”.

1.2 Ordinary resolution number 2

“Resolved that, the directors of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited, the managers of Emira, are hereby authorised, 
by way of a renewable general authority, to issue units in the authorised but unissued capital of the Fund for cash, as and when 
they in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Listing Requirements of the JSE Limited Africa (“JSE”), provided that:
•  This general authority shall be valid until the Fund’s next annual general meeting or for 15 months from the date of this 

resolution, whichever period is the shorter;
•  the units must be of a class already in issue; or where this is not the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that 

are convertible into a class already in issue;
•  that a press announcement giving full details, in accordance with the Listing Requirements of the JSE including the impact 

on net asset value and earnings per unit, will be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within 
one financial year, 5% or more of the number of units prior to the issue;

•  that issues in the aggregate in terms of this authority will not exceed 15% of the number of the Fund’s units already in issue 
in any one financial year;

•  in determining the price at which an issue of units will be made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount permitted 
will be 10% of the weighted average traded price of the units over the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of 
the units are determined or agreed by the directors of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Pty) Limited, the managers of Emira; 
and

•  any such issue will only be made to public Participatory Interest Holders as defined in the Listing Requirements of the JSE 
and not to related parties”.

2. SPECIAL RESOLUTION
1.1 Special resolution number 1

 “Resolved that, directors of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited, the managers of Emira, are hereby authorised, 
by way of a renewable general authority, to approve the repurchase of its own participatory interests by the Fund, provided 
that:
•  this general authority shall be valid until the Fund’s next annual general meeting or for 15 months from the date of this 

resolution, whichever period is the shorter;
•  the repurchase of participatory interests will be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done 

without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Fund and the counterparty;
•  an announcement complying with the Listing Requirements of the JSE be published by the Fund when (i) the Fund has 

cumulatively repurchased 3% of the participatory interests in issue as at the time the general authority was given (“the initial 
number”) and (ii) for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of participatory interests acquired thereafter by the Fund;

•  the general repurchase by the Fund of its own participatory interests shall not in the aggregate in any one financial year 
exceed 20% of the Fund’s issued capital of that class;

•  repurchases must not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value of the participatory 
interests for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction is effected;

•  at any point in time the Fund may only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase on the Funds behalf;
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•  the Fund will, after a repurchase, still comply with the provisions of the Listing Requirements of the JSE regarding unit 
spread;

•  the Fund will not repurchase participatory interests during a prohibited period (as defined by the Listing Requirements of the 
JSE); and

•  such repurchases shall be subject to the trust deed of the Fund, the provisions of the Collective Investment Schemes Act and 
the JSE Listing Requirements, when applicable.

It is the intention of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited, the managers of Emira, that they use such general 
authority should prevailing circumstances in their opinion warrant it.

The directors of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited, the managers of Emira, undertake that they will not 
implement any such repurchases while this general authority is valid, unless:
•  the Fund and the group will be able, in the ordinary course of business, to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the 

date of the notice of the annual general meeting at which this resolution is proposed (“the annual general meeting”);
•  the assets of the Fund and the group will exceed the liabilities of the Fund and the group for a period of 12 months after the 

date of the notice of the annual general meeting.  For this purpose, the assets and liabilities will be recognised and measured 
in accordance with the accounting policies used in the Fund’s latest audited annual group financial statements;

•  the Fund and the group will have adequate PI capital and reserves for ordinary business purposes for a period of 12 months 
after the date of the notice of the annual general meeting; and

•  the working capital of the Fund and the group will have adequate PI capital and reserves for ordinary business purposes for 
a period of 12 months after the date of the notice of the annual general meeting; and

•  upon entering the market to proceed with the repurchase, the Fund’s sponsor has confirmed adequacy of Emira’s working 
capital for the purposes of undertaking a repurchase of participatory interests in writing to the JSE.

Reason for and effect of the special resolution

The reason for and effect of the special resolution is to grant the directors of Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited, 
the managers of Emira, a general authority to approve the Fund’s repurchase of its participatory interests in itself.

For the purpose of considering special resolution number 1 and in compliance with the JSE Listing Requirements, the information 
listed below has been included in the annual report, to which this notice forms part, on the pages indicated:

•  Directors and management (Page 22)

•  Major participatory interest holder’s details (Page 23)

•  Subsequent events to balance sheet date (Page 24)

•  Directors’ interests (Page 22)

•  Participatory interest capital of the Fund (Page 33)

•  Directors’ responsibility statement (Page 27)

The directors, whose names are set out on page 25 and 26 of this report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for 
the accuracy of the information contained in this special resolution number 1 and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, there are no other facts, the omission of which would make any statement false or misleading and that they have made all 
reasonable queries in this regard.

•  Litigation statement

There are no legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings that are pending or threatened of which the company 
is aware), which may have or have had a material effect on Emira’s financial position over the last 12 months.

3. TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH MAY BE TRANSACTED AT AN ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited
Claire Middlemiss
Company Secretary

30 September 2006
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Strategic Real Estate Managers (Proprietary) Limited  

Voting and Proxies

Members who have not dematerialised their participatory interests or who have dematerialised their participatory interests with 

“own name” registration are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting and are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, 

speak and vote in their stead.  The person appointed need not be a member.

Proxy forms must be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) 

Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) by no later than 14:00 on Friday, 

27 October 2006.

Proxy forms must only be completed by members who have not dematerialised their participatory interests or who have 

dematerialised their participatory interests with “own name” registration.

On a show of hands, every member of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll, 

every member of the company shall have one vote for every participatory interest held in the company by such member.

Members who have dematerialised their participatory interests, other than those members who have dematerialised their 

participatory interests with “own name” registration, should contact their CSDP or broker in the manner and time stipulated in their 

agreement:

•  to furnish them with their voting instructions; and

•  in the event that they wish to attend the meeting, to obtain the necessary authority to do so.

PO Box 786130

SANDTON

2146

Tel: (011) 775-1000/1217



Emira Property Fund
Participatory interest code: EMI ISIN: ZAE000050712)

(“Emira” or “the Fund”)

FORM OF PROXY

THIS FORM OF PROXY IS ONLY FOR USE BY:

– registered members who have not yet dematerialised their Emira participatory interests; and

–  registered members who have already dematerialised their Emira participatory interests and are registered in their own names in the 

Fund’s sub-register.

For completion by the aforesaid registered members of Emira and who are unable to attend the 2006 annual general meeting of the 

Fund to be held in the boardroom, Third Floor, 3 Gwen Lane, Sandton at 14:00 on Tuesday, 31 October 2006 (“the annual general 

meeting”).

I/We (name/s in block letters)  

of (address)  

Being the registered holder/s of    units in Emira, as at 14:00 on Friday, 27 October 2006

hereby appoint (see instruction 1 overleaf)  

1.  or failing him/her,

2.  or failing him/her

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us and on my behalf or abstain from 

voting at the annual general meeting of the Fund and at any adjournment thereof, as follows (see note 2 and instruction 2 overleaf):

FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1.1   To receive, consider and adopt the annual financial statements for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2006

1.2 To vote on a general authority to issue units for cash

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1

2.1 To vote on a general authority to repurchase units

Signed at   on   2006

Signature(s) 

Assisted by (where applicable)  

Please read notes and instructions overleaf
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Notes

1. A participatory interest holder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint a proxy to speak and vote in this 

capacity.  A proxy need not be a participatory interest holder of the Fund.  Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the Fund’s 

transfer secretary Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall, Street, Johannesburg, 

2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) by no later than 14:00 on 27 October 2006.  The appointment of a proxy will not 

preclude a member from attending the meeting.

2.  A participatory interest holder may insert the name of a proxy or alternative proxy of the ordinary participatory interest 

holder’s choice in the space provided with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”.  The participatory 

interest holder must initial any such deletion.  The person whose name appears first on the form of proxy and has not been 

deleted will be entitled to act as a proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

3.  A participatory interest holder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes 

exercisable by that participatory interest holder in the appropriate space provided.  Failure to comply with the above will be 

deemed to authorise the chairman of the annual general meeting, if he is an authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the 

resolutions, or any other proxy to vote or abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of 

the participatory interest holder’s vote exercisable thereat.  A participatory interest holder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use 

all the votes exercisable by the participatory interest holder or by his/her proxy, but the total of votes cast and in respect 

whereof abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the participatory interest holder or his/her 

proxy.

4.  An alteration or correction must be initialled by the signatory(ies).

5.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 

attached to this form unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries of the Fund or waived by the chairman of the annual 

general meeting.

6.  His/her parent or guardian, as applicable, must assist a minor or any other person under legal incapacity unless the relevant 

documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the Fund.

7.  The completion and lodging of this form will not preclude the relevant ordinary participatory interest holder from attending 

the annual general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, 

should such participatory interest holder wish to do so.

8.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may accept or reject a proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 

accordance with the instructions, provided that he shall not accept a proxy unless he is satisfied as to the manner in which a 

participatory interest holder wishes to vote.

9.  If participatory interest holders have dematerialised their participatory interests with a CSDP or broker, other than own name 

dematerialised participatory interest holder, they must arrange with the CSDP or broker concerned to provide them with the 

necessary authorisation to attend the general meeting and vote thereat, or the participatory interest holder concerned must 

instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote in this regard.  This must be done in terms of the agreement entered 

into between the participatory interest holder and the CSDP or broker concerned.



Administration information

REGISTERED ADDRESS

3 Gwen Lane

Sandton

2146

PO Box 786130, Sandton, 2146

MANAGER

Strategic Real Estate Managers (Pty) Limited

3 Gwen Lane

Sandton

2146

PO Box 786130, Sandton, 2146

PROPERTY AND ASSET MANAGER

RMB Properties (Pty) Limited

3 Gwen Lane 

Sandton

2146

PO Box 786130, Sandton, 2146

TRUSTEES

Absa Bank Limited

2nd Floor, Block E

Flora Park Office Block

Corner of Ontdekkers and Conrad Roads

Florida, 1709

PO Box 1132, Johannesburg, 2000

MERCHANT BANK AND JOINT SPONSORS

Rand Merchant Bank, 

a division of FirstRand Bank Limited

1 Merchant Place

Fredman Drive

Sandton

2196

PO Box 786273, Sandton, 2146

TRANSFER SECRETARIES

Computershare Investor 

Services 2004 (Pty) Limited

70 Marshall Street,

Johannesburg, 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

2 Eglin Road

Sunninghill

2157

Private Bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157

BANKERS

FirstRand Bank Limited t/a First National Bank

Wierda Valley Sandton Outlet

Wierda Valley

PO Box 787428, Sandton, 2146

ATTORNEYS

Hofmeyr Herbstein & Gihwala Inc

6 Sandown Valley Crescent

Sandown

Sandton

2196

Private Bag X40, Benmore, 2010
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